NEGLECTED TROPICAL DISEASE CHEMOTHERAPY: MECHANISTIC CHARACTERIZATION OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES AND DEVELOPMENT OF A HIGH THROUGHPUT ANTILEISHMANIAL SCREENING ASSAY

DISSERTATION

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

from the Graduate School of The Ohio State University

By

Shanshan He, M.S.

Graduate Program in Pharmaceutical Sciences

The Ohio State University

2012

Dissertation Committee:

Karl A Werbovetz, Ph.D., Advisor

Mark E Drew, Ph.D. Co-advisor

Werner Tjarks, Ph.D.

Juan D D Alfonzo, Ph.D

Copyright by

Shanshan He

2012

ABSTRACT

Human African trypanosomiasis (HAT) and leishmaniasis are identified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as neglected tropical diseases (NTDs), together with Chagas disease and Buruli ulcer. These NTDs mostly affect people in remote or rural area, and there are very limited control and therapeutic options. The investment on research and development against NTDs is insufficient.

Human African trypanosomiasis (HAT) is a vector-borne parasitic disease caused by *Trypanosoma brucei* subspecies. Transmitted by the tsetse fly, the disease mainly affects rural populations in sub-Saharan Africa and is fatal if untreated. New drugs are needed against HAT that are safe, affordable, easy to administer, active against first and second stage disease, and effective against both subspecies of *T. brucei* (11, 139).

From medicinal chemistry investigation in Karl Werbovetz group, several N1-substituted 1,2-dihydroquinoline-6-ols were discovered displaying nanomolar IC₅₀ values *in vitro* against *T. b. rhodesiense* and selectivity indexes (SI) up to >18,000 (39). OSU-40 (1-benzyl-1,2-dihydro-2,2,4-trimethylquinolin-6-yl acetate) is selectively potent against *T. b. rhodesiense in vitro* (IC₅₀ = 14 nM, selectivity index = 1700), and has been proposed to cause the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in African trypanosomes. In the

present study, we sought to provide further support for the hypothesis that OSU-40 kills trypanosomes through oxidative stress. Inducible RNAi interference (RNAi) was applied to down-regulate key enzymes in parasite antioxidant defense, including trypanothione synthetase (TbTryS) and a superoxide dismutase (TbSODB). Both TbTryS RNAi-induced and TbSODB RNAi-induced cells showed impaired growth and increased sensitivity towards OSU-40 by 2.4-fold and 3.4-fold respectively. Decreased expression of key parasite antioxidant enzymes was thus associated with an increased sensitivity to OSU-40, consistent with the hypothesis that OSU-40 acts through oxidative stress. Finally, the dose-dependent formation of free radicals was observed after incubation of *T. brucei* with OSU-40 utilizing electron spin resonance (ESR) spectroscopy. These data support the notion that the mode of antitrypanosomal action for this class of compounds is to induce oxidative stress.

The ultimate goal of our work with antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines is to develop a new drug against HAT. A series of studies were carried out with representative dihydroquinolines to evaluate their drug-like properties to aid the development of these compounds as prospective new HAT treatments. The kinetic solubility assay confirmed that the salt forms (OSU-36•HCl and OSU-95•HCl) showed improved solubility compared to the esters (OSU-40 and OSU-75), respectively. The liver cytotoxicity assay showed that dihydroquinolines were highly selective on trypanosomes over human liver cells, suggesting the compounds were not particularly more toxic to liver cells. Clonal OSU-40 resistant *T. brucei* parasites were developed through 22-month selection under

increasing OSU-40 pressure. These clonal cells showed dramatically lowered sensitivity to OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl and, to our surprise, higher sensitivity to both nifurtimox and H_2O_2 . Whole genome sequencing will be performed to determine differences between the parental line and resistant line.

Leishmaniasis is a parasitic disease caused by more than 20 species of the protozoan *Leishmania*. Canine leishmaniaisis caused by *Leishmania infantum* is one of the major zoonotic diseases that lead to death in dogs. Drugs applied in therapy for canine leishmaniasis are not satisfactory. Studies on new combination therapy (77) and canine vaccines (25, 80, 104) have been reported targeting canine leishmaniasis, but discovery and development of novel drugs against this disease caused by *Leishmania infantum* has not been reported.

High throughput screening assays on *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* were designed, developed and validated in a rapid and simple 384-well format with a satisfactory robustness (Z' = 0.71 and 0.86, respectively). From the screening of a 427-member library, six compounds (2, 14, 17, 19, 20 and 21) exhibited IC₅₀ values that are comparable to pentamidine (lower than 5 µM) against *L. infantum* and/or *L. donovani*. Comparison of *L. infantum* screen to *L. donovani* screen indicates that screen against *L. donovani* is not an ideal approach to identify hits on *L. infantum* because of a high false positive rate. The antileishmanial screening assay against *L. infantum* developed in this study is a good initiation point leading to new drug candidates to the discovery pipeline for canine leishmaniasis. THIS DOCUMENT IS DEDICATED TO

MY PARENTS, QIN GAO AND NINGSHENG HE

AND MY HUSBAND, SU-LIN LEE

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I sincerely thank my advisor, Dr. Karl A. Werbovetz, for his continuous support, intellectual guidance, and encouragement throughout my graduate career on my studies and also on my professional career development. I especially thank him for his patient and careful editing and comments in writing of this dissertation and publication draft and my scientific presentations.

I am deeply thankful to my co-advisor, Dr. Mark E Drew, for his support, sparkling guidance and encouragement on my studies and also my professional career development. I also wish to thank him for his careful and inspiring editing and comments of my publication draft and his guidance in my scientific presentations.

I wish to thank my intern advisor, Dr. Patrick Meeus, for offering the internship opportunity. I also appreciate his guidance and supervision during my internship. I am especially thankful to him for his allowance of including the research during the internship in Pfizer Animal Health VMRD in my dissertation.

I am deeply thankful to Dr. Werner Tjarks and Dr. Juan Alfonzo for serving as members of my dissertation committee. I wish also to thank the faculty in Division of Medicinal Chemistry and Pharmacognosy and other related colleges for excellent teaching. I wish to send my sincere appreciation to the faculties, colleagues and classmates who have provided their intellectual suggestions and experimental assistance throughout my Ph.D. study. I like to thank Dr. Najmus Sahar Mahfooz for her patient guidance in cloning techniques, Dr. Stephen Hajduk and Dr. Rudo Kieft for sharing transfection protocols, Binjie Xu and Dr. Evelyn Guirado for their help with qRT-PCR, Dr. Su-Lin Lee for his assistance in Western blotting, Dr. Periannan Kuppusamy and Alex Dayton for access to the ESR facility and technical support. My colleagues in Pfizer Animal Health VMRD, Erich Zinser, Jason Millership, TJ Heinz, Christopher Zook, Eric Norby, Christopher Knauer, Scott Timmins, Chris Javens and Dr. Debra Woods are also acknowledged for their technical and administrative support in my intern project. Without their help, I would not have been able to complete the projects discussed in this dissertation.

I wish to express my gratitude to my friends and colleagues in College of Pharmacy and CMIB, especially former and present members of the Werbovetz laboratory, Dr. Jean Fotie, Dr. Dawn Delfin, Dr. Carolyn Reid, Dr. Xiaohua Zhu, Trupti Pandharkar, Julian Richard, Dr. Molla Endeshaw, Dr. Maedot Ghebru, Shawn Rito, Abigail Sprockel Dr. Sihui Long and Jason Young and former and present members of the Drew laboratory, Dr. Najmus Sahar Mahfooz, Dawn Walker, Ben Mapa, Katie Kemme, Emily Cason, Sanandan Malhotra Viral Patel Caitlin Blaut and Libby Butler. I will truly miss the time we spent together laughing, talking and of course discussing and doing research.

I also thank Dr. James Morris for providing genomic DNA, the RNAi vector and the 90-

13 strain of *T. b. brucei*, Dr. Alan Fairlamb for providing TryS antiserum, Dr. Paul Michels for providing α – enolase antiserum, and Dr. Larry R Mcdougald for providing nifurtimox.

My deepest appreciation goes to my parents, Qin Gao and Ningsheng He, for their endless love and enduring belief in me. Words cannot adequately express my gratitude towards my husband, Su-Lin Lee. Without his love and support, I would not have been able to accomplish this dissertation.

VITA

July 24, 1984.....Born – Xi'an, Shaanxi, China

2005...... B.S. Pharmaceutical Sciences, Peking University, Beijing, China

2007......M.S. Medicinal Chemistry, Peking University, Beijing, China

2007 to present......Graduate Teaching, Research and Administrative Associate, Division of Medicinal Chemistry and Pharmacognosy, The Ohio State University

PUBLICATIONS

S. He, A. Dayton, P. Kuppusamy, K. A. Werbovetz, M. E. Drew. Induction of Oxidative Stress in *Trypanosoma brucei* by the Antitrypanosomal Dihydroquinoline OSU-40, *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 56: 2428-34, 2012.

C. Reid, D. A. Patrick, **S. He**, J. Fotie, P. Kokku, R. R. Tidwell, T. Wenzler, R. Brun, K. Werbovetz. Synthesis and Antitrypanosomal Evaluation of Derivatives of N-benzyl-1,2-

dihydroquinolin-6-ols: Effect of Core Substitutions and Salt Formation, *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry* 19: 513-23, 2011.

M. Bahar, Y. Deng, X. Zhu, S. He, T. Pandharkar, M. E. Drew, A. N. Vázquez, C. Ankline, R. R. Gil, R. W. Doskotch, K. A. Werbovetz, A. D. Kinghorn. Potent Antiprotozoal Activity of a Novel Semi-synthetic Berberine Derivative. *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 21: 2606-10, 2011.

Z. Tan, J. Li, R. Pang, S. He, M. He, S. Tang, I. Hewlett, M. Yang, Screening and Evaluation of Thiourea Derivatives for Their HIV Capsid and Human Cyclophilin A Inhibitory Activity. *Medicinal Chemistry Research* 20: 314-320, 2011.

J. Li, Z. Tan, S. Tang, I. Hewlett, R. Pang, M. He, **S. He**, B. Tian, K. Chen, M. Yang, Discovery of Dual Inhibitors Targeting Both HIV-1 Capsid and Human Cyclophilin A to Inhibit the Assembly and Uncoating of the Viral Capsid, *Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry* 17: 3177-3188, 2009.

FIELDS OF STUDY

Major Field: Pharmacy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTVI
VITAIX
PUBLICATIONSIX
FIELDS OF STUDYX
TABLE OF CONTENTSXI
LIST OF TABLESXVI
LIST OF FIGURES XVII
CHAPTER 1: HUMAN AFRICAN TRYPANOSOMIASIS AND CHEMOTHERAPY 1
1.1 HUMAN AFRICAN TRYPANOSOMIASIS
1.1.1 Parasite transmission and life cycle
1.1.2 Clinical manifestations

1.1.3 Epidemiology	. 5
1.1.4 Diagnosis and control	. 8
1.2 Chemotherapy 1	11
1.2.1 Chemotherapy for first stage HAT	12
1.2.2 Chemotherapy for second stage HAT	14
1.3 CURRENT DRUG DISCOVERY EFFORTS 1	19
1.3.1 Diamidines	20
1.3.2 Benzoxaboroles	21
1.3.3 Agents potentially leading to oxidative stress	22
1.4. DISCOVERY OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	26
CHAPTER 2: MODE OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL ACTION OF DIHYDROQUINOLINES	30
2.1 AIMS OF STUDY	31
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
2.1.1 Generation of RNAi parasites	33
2.1.2 Characterization of RNAi phenotype parasites	34

2.1.3 In vitro susceptibility assay	38
2.1.4 Electron spin resonance (ESR)	39
2.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	39
2.2.1 Effect of RNAi-mediated knockdown of TbTryS	39
2.2.2 Effect of RNAi-mediated knockdown of TbSODB	43
2.2.3 ESR study	45
2.3 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	48
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE ()F
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE (Antitrypanosomal Dihydroquinolines	OF 53
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE C Antitrypanosomal Dihydroquinolines 3.1 Aims of Study	DF 53 54
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE C ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	DF 53 54 54
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE C ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	DF 53 54 54 56
 CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	DF 53 54 56 58
 CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	DF 53 54 54 56 58 59
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND IN VITRO RESISTANCE O ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES	DF 53 54 54 56 58 59 59

3.2.3 Liver cell cytotoxicity assay	. 60
3.2.4 Trypanosome culture	. 61
3.2.5 Generation of OSU-40-resistant <i>T. brucei</i> cell line	. 61
3.2.6 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant trypanosomes	. 62
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 62
3.3.1 Aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl	. 62
3.3.2 Cytotoxicity of OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl	. 65
3.3.3 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant <i>T. brucei</i>	. 66
3.4 SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 69
CHAPTER 4: CANINE LEISHMANIASIS	. 72
4.1 DISTRIBUTION	. 73
4.2 PARASITE TRANSMISSION AND LIFE CYCLE	. 74
4.3 CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS	. 77
4.4 DIAGNOSIS	. 78
4.5 TREATMENT AND PREVENTION	. 79

CHAPTER 5: DEVELOPMENT OF HIGH THROUGHPUT ANTILEISHMANIAL SCREENING	NG
Assay	83
5.1 AIMS OF STUDY	83
5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	84
5.2.1 Validation of antileishmanial screening assay	84
5.2.2 Screening against <i>Leishmania</i> parasites	87
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	89
5.3.1 Luminescence output correlates with parasite number per well	89
5.3.2 Dose-response curves of reference compounds	90
5.3.3 High throughput screening	92
5.3.4 Antileishmanial activity of hits	95
5.4 SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	98
References	101

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 In vitro and in vivo potency and cytotoxicity of representative
dihydroquinolines
Table 2.1 Primer sequences for RNAi constructs and qRT-PCR. 36
Table 3.1 Cytotoxicity of OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl against liver cell lines
Table 3.2 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant <i>T. brucei</i> after 14 months and 22 months of
OSU-40 pressure
Table 4.1 Diagnostic methods for canine leishmaniasis (2, 18, 88). 78
Table 4.2 Current drugs for the treatment of canine leishmaniasis. 82
Table 5.1 Antileishmanial activity of hits

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Life cycle of <i>Trypanosoma brucei</i>
Figure 1.2 Distribution of HAT caused by <i>T. b. rhodesiense</i> and <i>T. b. gambiense</i>
Figure 1.3 New cases of HAT reported between 1927 to 1997
Figure 1.4 <i>Trypanosoma brucei</i> ssp. in a thin blood smear stained with Giemsa
Figure 1.5 Chemical structures of the drugs used in HAT chemotherapy 12
Figure 1.6 Chemical structures of melarsoprol and melarsen oxide
Figure 1.7 Mode of action of effornithine shown in trypanosomal polyamine biosynthesis
pathway17
Figure 1.8 Chemical structures of antitrypanosomal diamidines and diamidine prodrugs.
Figure 1.9 Chemical structures of benzoxaboroles
Figure 1.10 Biosynthesis and utilization of trypanothione in the trypanosomal antioxidant
defense system

Figure 1.11 Clusters of hits identified in the high throughput TryS assays 25
Figure 1.12 Chemical structures of TryR inhibitors
Figure 2.1 Summary of RNAi study
Figure 2.2 Effect of TbTryS RNAi on bloodstream form parasite growth, TbTryS protein
level and susceptibility to OSU-40
Figure 2.3 Effect of TbSODB RNAi on parasite growth and susceptibility to OSU-40 44
Figure 2.4 ESR spectra and signal quantification in trypanosomes exposed to OSU-40. 46
Figure 2.5 Proposed mode of action for the generation of oxidative stress by the
antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines including the possible protective role of TbTryS and
TbSODB
Figure 3.1 The role of metabolism of acetaminophen in its hepatotoxicity
Figure 3.2 Aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl 64
Figure 3.3 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant <i>T. b. brucei</i> 221 parasites to OSU-40, OSU-
36•HCl, nifurtimox, H_2O_2 , and suramin after 14 months and 22 months of OSU-40
pressure

Figure 4.1 Distribution of zoonotic visceral leishmaniasis caused by Leishmania
infantum
Figure 4.2 Life cycle of <i>Leishmania infantum</i> 76
Figure 4.3 Chemical structures of the drugs used in canine leishmaniasis chemotherapy.
Figure 5.1 Plate setting for assay validation and hit titration
Figure 5.2 Assay validation
Figure 5.3 Distribution plot of RLU values from assays on L. infantum and L. donovani
promastigotes
Figure 5.4 Number of hits on <i>L. infantum</i> and/or <i>L. donovani</i>

CHAPTER 1: HUMAN AFRICAN TRYPANOSOMIASIS AND CHEMOTHERAPY

Human African trypanosomiasis (HAT) is a vector-borne parasitic disease caused by Trypanosoma brucei subspecies, T. b. rhodesiense and T. b. gambiense. The trypanosome proliferates in the host's hemolymphatic system during the first stage of HAT and invades the central nervous system in the second stage. Transmitted by the tsetse fly, the disease mainly affects rural populations in sub-Saharan Africa and is fatal if untreated. Although according to the World Health Organization the number of new cases has dropped to just over 7000 during 2010 (135), very few drugs are available to treat HAT (8, 11, 139). Pentamidine and suramin, both developed in the early 20th century, are used against first stage disease, while melarsoprol and effornithine are used to treat second stage disease. These drugs are far from satisfactory due to limitations such as severe toxicity, poor efficacy, acquired resistance, rising failure rates, and lack of availability (8, 11, 139). With high efficacy and a good safety profile, nifurtimox-effornithine combination therapy (NECT) was introduced as first-line treatment for second stage HAT caused by T. b. gambiense in 2009 (11, 84, 139). However, administration of NECT is relatively complicated and its efficacy towards T. b. rhodesiense is still questionable (11, 139). Thus, new drugs are needed against HAT that are safe, affordable, easy to

administer, active against first and second stage disease, and effective against both subspecies of *T. brucei* (11, 139).

In this chapter, a brief introduction of the disease is given, including parasite transmission and life cycle, clinical manifestations, epidemiology, diagnosis and control of HAT. The current chemotherapy and drug discovery efforts are reviewed in detail. Finally, the discovery of dihydroquinolines provides the background for further studies on the mode of action and drug-like properties of this series of compounds in the following chapters.

1.1 HUMAN AFRICAN TRYPANOSOMIASIS

1.1.1 Parasite transmission and life cycle

As shown in Figure 1.1 (14), a tsetse fly infected with *Trypanosoma brucei* injects metacyclic trypomastigotes into host tissue when taking a blood meal. The parasites then pass from the lymphatic system into the bloodstream, where the metacyclic trypomastigotes transform into bloodstream form *T. brucei*. Bloodstream form trypomastigotes proliferate rapidly by binary fission in the blood while being carried throughout the body. When taken up by a tsetse fly during a blood meal on the infected host, the parasites pre-adapted for life in the insect vector differentiate into procyclic form trypanosomes. The parasites then replicate by binary fission in the fly's midgut and transform into epimastigotes after they leave the midgut. When epimastigotes migrate to

the salivary glands, they may be introduced into the host as the fly takes a blood meal, completing the life cycle of *T. brucei*. Humans are the only mammalian host of *T. b. gambiense*, while *T. b. rhodesiense* infection is zoonotic with a variety of domestic and wild animal reservoirs. On the other hand, *T. b. brucei* infects livestock, not humans.



Figure 1.1 Life cycle of Trypanosoma brucei.

[Source: DPDx website, Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria (DPDM), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (14)]

1.1.2 Clinical manifestations

Human African trypanosomiasis has two clinical stages. In the first stage, the parasites are only found in the bloodstream of the host and have not yet entered the central nervous system. The disease progresses to the second stage when the parasites cross the blood-brain barrier and infect the central nervous system.

Although the two subspecies of *T. brucei* that cause disease in humans, *T. b. rhodesiense* and *T. b. gambiense*, are indistinguishable in their morphology and transmission, the diseases they cause in humans progress at different rates and have distinct clinical features (14, 17, 100). *T. b. rhodesiense* causes infection in East and South Africa, and the infection progresses rapidly. Some patients develop a large sore at the site of the tsetse fly bite. Fever, headache, loss of appetite, muscle and joint aches, and enlarged lymph nodes commonly develop within 1-2 weeks of the infective bite. HAT caused by *T. b. rhodesiense* progresses to the second stage within a few weeks of infection, when patients suffer from mental deterioration, disruption of sleeping cycles and other neurologic problems. Death can take place within months. *T. b. gambiense* causes infection in West and Central Africa and the disease is characterized by chronic progression. Mild symptoms, such as intermittent fever, headaches, and malaise occur at first; central nervous system involvement usually requires 1-2 years. Neurologic signs include progressive confusion, sleep abnormalities, difficulty in maintaining balance or

walking, and hormonal imbalances. *T. b. gambiense* HAT leads to death in approximately 3 years and the untreated infection in some cases can last longer than 6 years.

1.1.3 Epidemiology

Restricted by the presence of the vector tsetse fly, HAT distributes in mostly poor and remote rural areas in Africa. For reasons that are not well understood, there are places where the tsetse fly exists but HAT is not found. The epidemiological characteristics are different between the two subspecies of *T. brucei* parasites. *T. b. rhodesiense* HAT occurs in 13 Eastern and Southern African countries (Figure 1.2), including Uganda, Rwanda, Burundi, the United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Malawi (71). *T. b. gambiense* leads to chronic infection in countries of Western and Central Africa (Figure 1.2), specifically the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Republic of Congo, Angola, the Central African Republic, and the Republic of South Sudan (17).



Figure 1.2 Distribution of HAT caused by T. b. rhodesiense and T. b. gambiense.

[Credit: WHO/Food and Agriculture Organizations of the United Nations; Reprint with permission from BioMed Central Ltd: International Journal of Health Geographics (110), copyright (2010)]

In the early 19th century, epidemics of HAT occurred in Africa from 1896-1906 and in the 1920s (Figure 1.3). The disease was almost eliminated in the mid-1960s because of systematic screening, treatment and follow-up throughout the continent. However,

disease surveillance relaxed after the reduction of the number of HAT cases, leading to a flare-up of the disease over the following years until the late 1990s (Figure 1.3) (112). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), almost 40,000 cases were reported in 1998, and 300,000 cases were estimated to be undiagnosed and untreated in that year (132). In South Sudan, Angola and the Democratic Republic of the Congo, prevalence reached 50% in certain areas. HAT caused the most or second to the most deaths in these villages, in some areas more than the number of deaths caused by HIV infection (132). Surveillance, control, diagnosis and treatment of HAT were then strongly reinforced with the efforts of WHO, national control programs, bilateral cooperation and the public and private sector. This led to a reversal of the rising trend of disease incidence from the late 1990s to the beginning of the 21st century (111, 112). The number of HAT cases fell below 18,000 in 2004 and with this continuing trend, the number of cases dropped below 10,000 in 2009 for the first time in 50 years (132). During 2010, 7139 new cases of HAT were reported to WHO (135).



Figure 1.3 New cases of HAT reported between 1927 to 1997.

[Reprint with permission from Public Library of Science: Plos Medicine (112), copyright (2008)]

1.1.4 Diagnosis and control

1.1.4.1 Diagnosis

Lacking specific clinical features, laboratory tests are required to diagnose HAT infection. HAT diagnosis relies on the observation of trypanosomes in body fluids or

tissues under the microscope. Diagnosis of infection with *T. b. rhodesiense* and *T. b. gambiense* share the same general principles, and they both require three steps: screening, parasitological confirmation and stage determination (17, 71).

T. b. rhodesiense infection is easier to detect due to the higher parasite load that occurs. Screening is carried out to identify suspected cases based on non-specific symptoms and a history of exposure. Parasitological confirmation rests on microscopic detection of parasites because of the high density of parasites in the blood for *T. b. rhodesiense* infection. Serologic testing is not applied in this case (14).



Figure 1.4 Trypanosoma brucei ssp. in a thin blood smear stained with Giemsa.

[Source: DPDx website, Division of Parasitic Diseases and Malaria (DPDM), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (14)]

Following the same general steps, diagnosis of *T. b. gambiense* HAT differs from the above methods used for *T. b. rhodesiense* infection in the following points (14, 17, 71). First, screening in endemic areas of Africa is carried out with a rapid serological test, the card agglutination test. Due to the limited specificity of this test, all individuals with positive results in the card agglutination test still require parasitological confirmation. Microscopic examination of cervical lymph node fluid or blood is carried out to search for trypanosomes. Blood concentration techniques are often needed due to the low parasite load in *T. b. rhodesiense* infection.

All individuals diagnosed with HAT are required to undergo cerebrospinal fluid examination to determine whether the central nervous system is involved for stage determination of the disease (17, 71). Different treatments will be administered depending on the disease stage. Overall, the diagnostic approaches currently in use are complex for rural sub-Saharan Africa and more practical tests are urgently needed for accurate HAT diagnosis.

1.1.4.2 Control and surveillance

The strategies for control and surveillance of HAT include case screening, diagnosis, treatment, case follow-up, vector control, and disease reservoir control (14, 133). These

strategies are utilized at different levels, depending on the epidemiological status, the subspecies causing the infection, and local environment, such as geographic, political and climatic factors. *T. b. rhodesiense* infection is zoonotic with a variety of domestic and wild animal reservoirs, leading to difficulty in reservoir control. With humans as the main disease reservoir, *T. b. gambiense* HAT is mainly controlled by active population screening and treatment of diagnosed cases.

1.2 CHEMOTHERAPY

Without chemotherapy, HAT caused by both *T. b. rhodesiense* and *T. b. gambiense* most often leads to death. In the absence of a vaccine, the only options to control and treat HAT relied on four drugs in the 20^{th} century, including pentamidine and suramin for first stage HAT, and melarsoprol and effornithine for second stage disease (8, 11, 55). In 2009, nifurtimox-effornithine combination therapy (NECT) was introduced as first-line treatment for second stage *T. b. gambiense* HAT. The chemical structures of these drugs are shown in Figure 1.5.



Figure 1.5 Chemical structures of the drugs used in HAT chemotherapy.

1.2.1 Chemotherapy for first stage HAT

1.2.1.1 Pentamidine

Pentamidine isethionate was introduced in the 1940s. It is a symmetric diamidine derivative. The uptake of this drug is carrier mediated primarily via the P2 aminopurine permease, and also a high-affinity pentamidine transporter 1 and a low-affinity pentamidine transporter 1 (26). This explains the observation that high concentrations of pentamidine appear in trypanosomes when the parasites were incubated in low concentrations of the drug. The accumulation of pentamidine in trypanosomes may be the primary reason for its selectivity over host cells. Although the mechanism by which

pentamidine concentrates in the parasite has been studied in detail, the mode of action of this compound is still not fully understood (131). Multiple targets could contribute to pentamidine's trypanocidal effects. The activity of this drug was suggested to be related to effects on the parasite mitochondrion, such as interacting with mitochondrial kinetoplast DNA (68, 109).

Pentamidine has a broad range of antimicrobial activity. It is also used for the treatment of leishmaniasis and *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in AIDS (21). For the treatment of HAT, pentamidine is only used to treat first stage *T. b. gambiense* infection because it showed relatively low activity on *T. b. rhodesiense* (55) and because the concentration of pentamidine in the central nervous system was not high enough to effectively kill the parasites during the second stage HAT (103). Compared to melarsoprol for late stage HAT, pentamidine is well tolerated. However, it still shows significant toxicity in patients when given by intramuscular injection, causing adverse reactions such as abdominal pain, diarrhea, nausea etc. Life threatening hypoglycemia is also one of the frequently reported adverse reactions (8).

1.2.1.2 Suramin

Suramin, the oldest drug in HAT chemotherapy, was introduced in the 1920s. It is a polysulphonated symmetrical naphthalene derivative. The uptake of suramin most likely relies on receptor-mediated endocytosis, leading to concentration of the drug in the

parasites (34). This may be the primary reason for its selectivity on trypanosomes over host cells. The mode of action of suramin is not well understood. The absence of field resistance suggests a multiple-targeted mode of action. With six negative charges, suramin may be able to interact with many enzymes via electrostatic interaction. On the other hand, the drug is significantly less active against procyclic form *T. brucei* (107), which differs from bloodstream form parasites in that glycolysis is not essential for survival (9). Thus, glycolysis is also a proposed target.

Suramin is used for the treatment of first stage *T. b. rhodesiense* HAT. Besides this clinical application, it is reported to be active in other conditions, such as androgenindependent prostate cancer (63). Suramin is not effective against late stage HAT because the drug does not cross the blood brain barrier. The adverse reactions caused by suramin include nausea, vomiting, rash, hyperglycemia, and neurological complications such as peripheral neuropathy. The US Food and Drug Administration disapproves the use of suramin in prostate cancer because of adverse reactions (63). However, with a short regimen the drug is tolerable for HAT treatment.

1.2.2 Chemotherapy for second stage HAT

1.2.2.1 Melarsoprol

Melarsoprol was introduced for HAT chemotherapy in 1949. It is a melaminophenyl

based trivalent arsenical. Melarsoprol is a prodrug when administered in vivo, being rapidly converted to melarsen oxide. Melarsen oxide enters the parasites primarily via the P2 aminopurine transporter with possible secondary routes reported in case of loss of the P2 transporter (12, 26, 74). The drug results in a rapid lytic effect on trypanosomes, but the mechanism of killing is not well understood. It is reported to interact with trypanothione, a small molecule that plays essential roles in antioxidant systems in trypanosomatids but not in host cells (36). However, it is not known whether the interaction with trypanothione is the primary reason for its toxicity to trypanosomes.



Figure 1.6 Chemical structures of melarsoprol and melarsen oxide.

Melarsoprol is the only drug that is active against second stage HAT caused by both *T. b. rhodesiense* and *T. b. gambiense*. Because of serious toxicity, the drug is reserved only for the treatment of late stage *T. b. rhodesiense* infection, and it is recommended gainst

T. b. gambiense when effornithine is unavailable. Side effects such as fever, vomiting, abdomimal cramping and malaise can appear rapidly after administration. More severe toxicity effects occur due to reactive encephalopathy, which results in convulsions and other neurological conditions leading to coma and death. This serious adverse effect occurs in 10% of the patients receiving the treatment and can lead to death in 5% of the total number of treated patients (91). Due to these life threatening side effects, hospitalization is required during melarsoprol treatment and patients are subjected to follow-up for 2 years after treatment.

1.2.2.2 Eflornithine

Eflornithine, or D, L- α -difluoromethylornithine, introduced in 1981, is the only new drug that has been registered for the treatment of HAT in the past 50 years. It is a fluoro-substituted analogue of the amino acid ornithine. Compared to pentamidine, suramin and melarsoprol, eflornithine is the only drug in HAT chemotherapy with an established mode of action. Eflornithine kills African trypanosomes through inhibition of ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), an essential enzyme in the polyamine biosynthesis pathway (5, 6) (Figure 1.7). Polyamines are essential for eukaryotic cell growth. Although effornithine inhibits both the mammalian and parasite ODCs, it selectively kills the parasites because the turnover of ODC is slower in *T. b. gambiense* than in mammalian host cells (43). In addition, polyamines play a unique role in the trypanosomatids in that spermidine reacts
with glutathione to form trypanothione (35). Polyamine and trypanothione biosynthesis pathways will be discussed in detail in section 1.3.3 as potential therapeutic targets.



Figure 1.7 Mode of action of effornithine shown in trypanosomal polyamine biosynthesis pathway.

Eflornithine is used to treat late stage *T. b. gambiense* HAT, because it is not active against *T. b. rhodesiense* infection due to a faster turnover of ODC in *T. b. rhodesiense*

compared to *T. b. gambiense* (53, 54, 61). Although the drug has a much better safely profile than melarsoprol, effornithine treatment still leads to adverse reactions, such as nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, seizures, fever, convulsions and bone marrow toxicity causing anemia, leucopenia and thrombocytopenia (8). Effornithine therapy is expensive and complex to administer. These factors keep the drug from wider use as first line treatment replacing melarsoprol for late stage HAT. Development of resistance is also a concern with effornithine monotherapy. Combination therapy (described below) should help to protect the efficacy of effornithine.

1.2.2.3 Nifurtimox and nifurtimox-effornithine combination therapy (NECT)

Nifurtimox, introduced for the treatment of Chagas disease (*Trypanosoma cruzi* infection) in the 1960s, was registered to treat HAT in combination with effornithine in 2009 (139). The precise mode of action of nifurtimox on *T. cruzi* remains unclear. The drug was suggested to act by inducing oxidative stress based on the observation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in nifurtimox-treated parasites or extracts (31-33). On the other hand, an alternative mechanism was raised in 2011 proposing that nifurtimox was metabolized by a type I nitroreductase to generate a toxic metabolite (45). Although the metabolite is proposed to be equally toxic to host cells and parasites, trypanosomes are selectively killed by nifurtimox due to the expression of a parasite-encoded type I nitroreductase.

NECT is used in late stage *T. b. gambiense* HAT. Compared with effornithine monotherapy, the advantage of NECT includes easier administration, shorter treatment duration, less severe drug-induced adverse effects, and lower cost. NECT therapy also reduced the chance of the development of resistance to effornithine. However, administration of NECT is still complicated and its efficacy towards *T. b. rhodesiense* is questionable (11, 139).

1.3 CURRENT DRUG DISCOVERY EFFORTS

The current options to treat HAT are limited to monotherapy using the four drugs mentioned above along with NECT. These therapeutic approaches are far from satisfactory due to severe adverse effects, complex administration, acquired resistance, rising failure rates, and lack of availability (8, 11, 139). Besides these issues, there is not a single agent that is effective against both *T. b. rhodesiense* and *T. b. gambiense* infection and/or against both first and second stage of HAT. Thus, new drugs are needed against HAT with the following features (139): 1) a good safety profile; 2) easy administration, particularly by the oral route; 3) higher efficacy; 4) activity against both stage of the disease; 5) effectiveness against both subspecies of *T. brucei* and 6) affordability.

The increasing epidemic of HAT at the end of the 20th century provoked an increased interest in the discovery of new drug targets and lead identification and optimization for

HAT. The trypanosomal pathways studied as targets for new drugs include polyamine biosynthesis, fatty acid biosynthesis and function, glycolytic enzymes, trypanothione biosynthesis and utilization, purine and pyrimidine metabolism, DNA modification, tubulin assembly, kinases and proteases (7, 55). On the other hand, new leads were also identified from screening with whole cell *T. brucei* viability assays.

1.3.1 Diamidines

Pentamidine, a diamidine derivative, has been used in HAT treatment for over 70 years. As mentioned earlier, the reagent has several disadvantages including a lack of efficacy against second stage disease, complex injection for administration and severe adverse effects. The Consortium for Parasitic Drug Development (CPDD) has extensively explored aromatic diamidines for the discovery and development of potential new drugs with better profiles. DB289 (pafuramidine maleate, Figure 1.8) was discovered as an orally active prodrug of the diamidine DB75 (furamidine, Figure 1.8) (87). Oral administration of DB289 (Figure 1.8) resulted in equal efficacy and lower toxicity compared with intramuscular administration of pentamidine in a phase III clinical trial (7). However, clinical development of DB289 was discontinued due to unexpected renal toxicity. On the other hand, DB829 (Figure 1.8) with pyridyl-amidines replacing the benzamidine moieties present in DB289, showed good antitrypanosomal activity and the ability to cross the blood-brain barrier. This compound is considered for entry into

clinical development against second stage HAT; DB868 is the orally active prodrug of DB829.



Figure 1.8 Chemical structures of antitrypanosomal diamidines and diamidine prodrugs.

1.3.2 Benzoxaboroles

The Drugs for Neglected Diseases Initiative (DNDi) has collaborated with Scynexis, Inc. to develop new drugs for second stage HAT. A whole cell *T. brucei* viability assay was utilized to screen a library of benzoxaboroles from Anacor Pharmaceuticals Inc. Benzoxaborole 6-carboxamides were identified as attractive starting points (57). With sufficient potency, desirable pharmacokinetic properties and acceptable blood-brain barrier permeability, SCYX-6759 (Figure 1.9) was selected as the initial lead. This compound completely cured infection in a stage 2 murine model of HAT. To optimize

the pharmacokinetics of SCYX-6759 for improved brain exposure without losing antitrypanosomal potency, SCYX-7158 was ultimately selected for progression to preclinical and phase I clinical studies (56). The mode of action of these benzoxaboroles remains unknown.



Figure 1.9 Chemical structures of benzoxaboroles.

1.3.3 Agents potentially leading to oxidative stress

Trypanosomatids have a peculiar ROS-scavenging system based on trypanothionedependent peroxidases (58, 65, 66, 75, 106, 124). The biosynthesis and utilization of trypanothione in the parasite antioxidant defense system is shown in Figure 1.10. Lacking glutathione reductase, thioredoxin reductase, catalase and selenium-containing glutathione peroxidases possibly makes the trypanosomatids deficient in defense against oxidative stress. ROS generation has been widely studied as a mechanism for drugs targeting *T. cruzi*. In fact, the two agents used clinically for treating American trypanosomiasis, nifurtimox and benznidazole, are both suggested to induce free radical formation (31-33, 75). Enzymes involved in trypanothione biosynthesis and utilization pathways have been shown to be essential to cell growth through the use of RNAimediated gene downregulation. Among these enzymes, trypanothione synthetase and trypanothione reductase have been extensively studied as drug targets against HAT (4, 20, 90, 92, 121, 138). Also, the inhibition of essential enzymes in the polyamine biosynthesis pathway, such as ODC and S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase, could possibly cause oxidative stress, as spermidine is the precursor in the trypanothione biosynthesis pathway (35).



Figure 1.10 Biosynthesis and utilization of trypanothione in the trypanosomal antioxidant defense system.

1.3.3.1 Trypanothione synthetase inhibitors

Genetic and chemical validation of trypanothione synthetase (TbTryS) as a drug target has been reported by Fairlamb *et al.* (4, 20, 90, 92, 121, 138). High throughput screening was utilized to find inhibitors of trypanothione synthetase, and several hits series were

identified (Figure 1.11). The lead compounds possessed good target selectivity against TbTryS but relatively weak activity (5-30 μ M EC₅₀ values) in parasite proliferation assay (118).



Figure 1.11 Clusters of hits identified in the high throughput TryS assays.

1.3.3.2 Trypanothione reductase inhibitors

Trypanothione reductase (TryR) has also been genetically validated as drug target by Fairlamb *et al.* (90, 92). Two series of drug-like TryR inhibitors, dihydroquinazolines and indatralines, were recently identified using structure-based and ligand-based drug design respectively (90, 129) (Figure 1.12). Lead compounds from both series showed moderate potency against TryR and *T. brucei* parasite growth. There was not significant correlation between the trypanocidal activity of these compounds and their TryR inhibition activity,

however. Further optimizations are required for these series to improve their potency and selectivity.



Figure 1.12 Chemical structures of TryR inhibitors.

1.4. DISCOVERY OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES

Sponsored by WHO's Special Programme from Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (WHO/TDR), a whole-cell screening program on compounds from Specs (www.specs.net) was carried out by Tibotec Belgium and the Swiss Tropical Institute (STI). A hit compound containing the dihydroquinoline core structure was identified with potent in vitro activity against *T. b. rhodesiense* (Table 1.1) but no potency in vivo.

Based on this initial hit, a series of 1,2-dihydroquinolines were prepared, characterized and evaluated by Fotie *et al.* for their in vitro and in vivo activity against *T. brucei*

infection. From this medicinal chemistry investigation, several N1-substituted 1,2dihydroquinoline-6-ols were discovered displaying nanomolar IC₅₀ values *in vitro* against *T. b. rhodesiense* and selectivity indexes (SI) up to >18,000 (39). OSU-40 (1-benzyl-1,2dihydro-2,2,4-trimethylquinolin-6-yl acetate, Table 1.1) showed a potency (IC₅₀ = 0.014 μ M, SI = 1,700) close to that of melarsoprol (IC₅₀ = 0.008 μ M, SI = 1,000) against *T. b. rhodesiense* STIB900 *in vitro*. In an early treatment acute mouse model of African trypanosomiasis, OSU-40 prolonged the lifespan of infected mice when given ip at 50 mg/kg/day for four consecutive days (>14 days vs. 7.75 days for untreated controls). A subsequent study showed that OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl (Table 1.1) provided cures in a murine model of African trypanosomiasis when given ip at 50 mg/kg/day for four days (99).

			OSU-40	HO N OSU-36	HCI OSU-75	
Compound	IC ₅₀	(μΜ)	_ Selectivity Index	Dose (mg/kg)/ day	In vivo activity against <i>T. b. brucei</i> in Mice	In vivo activity against <i>T. b. rhodesiense</i> in Mice
	T. b. rhodesiense	L6 rat myoblasts	muta	uuy	Mean survival days	Cure/treated*
Hit	0.054	16	300	4 × 50, ip	No prolongation/Cure	
OSU-40	0.014	24	1710	4 × 50, ip	>14 from 7.75	0/4
OSU-36•HCl	0.013	11	850	4 × 50, ip		4/4
OSU-75	0.011	17	1550	4 × 50, ip		4/4
OSU-95•HCl	0.014	12	860	4 × 50, ip		4/4

Table 1.1 In vitro and in vivo potency and cytotoxicity of representative dihydroquinolines.

Overall, we have observed excellent antitrypanosomal activity both in vitro and in vivo with this series of 1,2-dihydroquinolines. The ultimate goal of our work is to develop a new drug based on these compounds against HAT. As discussed earlier in this chapter, the drugs currently used in HAT chemotherapy have serious limitations, including complex administration, severe toxicity, poor efficacy, acquired resistance, rising failure rates, and lack of availability (8, 11, 139). Accordingly, drug discovery efforts for HAT treatment need to focus on new reagents with the following characteristics: safety, affordability, ease of administration, activity against first and second stage disease, and effectiveness against both subspecies of *T. brucei* (11, 139). Thus, a series of studies were

carried out with representative dihydroquinolines to evaluate their mode of action and drug-like properties to aid the development of these compounds as prospective new HAT treatments. Chapter 2 and chapter 3 are focused on the methods, results and discussion of these studies.

CHAPTER 2: MODE OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL ACTION OF DIHYDROQUINOLINES

For drugs and drug candidates, knowledge of their mode of action can direct efforts to improve activity, pharmaceutical properties, and clinical applications. Mode of action studies can also shed light on the basis for selectivity and mechanisms of resistance. Understanding the mode of action of a novel series of compounds should also provide direction for further structural modifications to improve activity.

The following observations pointed to induction of oxidative stress as a mechanism to account for the antitrypanosomal activity of the dihydroquinolin-6-ols. The structure-activity relationship of the dihydroquinolines suggested that only compounds with a 6-oxygen atom substituent displayed potent *in vitro* antitrypanosomal activity (39). An experiment using the redox-sensitive dye CM-H₂DCFDA was consistent with the hypothesis that ROS were produced in the parasites dose-dependently when *T. b. brucei* was exposed to OSU-40 *in vitro* (39).

2.1 AIMS OF STUDY

In this study we used OSU-40 to further investigate the mode of action of these promising dihydroquinolines. RNA interference (RNAi) of enzymes involved in parasite antioxidant defense and ESR experiments were conducted to provide support for the hypothesis that OSU-40 induces oxidative stress. These studies suggested the induction of oxidative stress as a promising target for anti-HAT drug development and may open the door for new therapeutic strategies against African trypanosomiasis.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. unless stated otherwise. OSU-40 was synthesized following the procedure of Fotie *et al.* (39).



Figure 2.1 Summary of RNAi study.

2.1.1 Generation of RNAi parasites

2.1.1.1 Trypanosome culture

Bloodstream form *T. brucei brucei* strain 221 and transgenic cell line 90-13 (a gift from Dr. James Morris, Clemson University, SC, U.S.A.) were cultured at 37° C under 5% CO₂ in HMI-9 medium (50) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum. 90-13 cells were supplemented with 2.5 µg/ml G418 and 5 µg/ml hygromycin.

2.1.1.2 Generation of RNAi constructs

Fragments of the *T. brucei* genes encoding trypanothione synthetase (TbTryS) and superoxide dismutase B (TbSODB) were amplified by PCR from *T. b. brucei* 90-13 genomic DNA (see Table 1 for primer sequences), digested with HindIII/XhoI and cloned into the pZJM α vector (130) replacing the α -tubulin stuffer region, and transformed into DH5 α TM competent cells (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Plasmid DNA was purified using a DNA maxi-prep kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) and inserts were verified by DNA sequencing. Prior to transfection, the plasmids pZJM α -TbTRYS and pZJM α -TbSODB were linearized by digestion with NotI.

2.1.1.3 Transfection of the parent cell line

Bloodstream form parental 90-13 cells were transfected with the Nucleofector[®] system (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). A total of $1.5-3 \times 10^7$ cells at mid-log phase (culture density: $3-6 \times 10^5$ cells/ml) were resuspended in 100 µl of freshly-made human T-cell Nucleofector[®] solution, mixed with 5 µg of the desired linearized pZJM α construct, and subjected to nucleofection employing program X-001 (10). Immediately after transfection, cells were transferred into 75 ml of pre-warmed medium and incubated overnight for recovery at 37°C under 5% CO₂. Selection was achieved by the addition of 2.5 µg/ml phleomycin. For controls, the same procedure was conducted without DNA. Resistant clones were evident after approximately 10 days and transferred to culture flasks. Clonal cells were obtained by limiting dilution.

2.1.2 Characterization of RNAi phenotype parasites

2.1.2.1 Phenotype growth inhibition

Bloodstream form trypanosomes transfected with each of the RNAi constructs were maintained at cell densities from 1×10^5 -5 × 10⁶ cells/ml at 37°C in the presence or absence of 1 µg/ml tetracycline. Every 20-24 hrs, aliquots were taken from cell culture and parasite growth was assessed microscopically. Cumulative cell density was obtained by multiplying the cell density by the overall dilution factor at each time point.

2.1.2.2 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Approximately $0.5-1 \times 10^7$ cells were collected three days after the induction of RNAi, and RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Residual DNA was removed using the TURBO DNA-*free*TM Kit (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA). cDNA was synthesized using the iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). qRT-PCR was performed using iQTM SYBR[®] Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) in a Bio-Rad CFX96TM real-time PCR system (initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation (94°C, 10 s), and annealing and extension (57°C, 30 s)). All reactions were normalized to trypanosome β-actin (TbActin). Relative mRNA expression was analyzed using the 2^{-ΔΔCT} method (70). Primer sequences for TbTryS and TbActin are shown in Table 2.1.

		Sequence of ^a :	
Usage	Gene product	Forward primer	Reverse primer
RNAi construct	TbTryS TbSODB	ctcgagCACGTTCCCTTTGGTGAGAT ctcgagCAAAGGGCATATCGAAGGAA	aagcttGCTGCTGCTGCATGATCCTCAA aagcttGCTTGAGATCCGCTTCAGTC
qRT-PCR	TbTryS TbActin	CCATTGGTGTTGCATGAGTC GCCACGTATTTCCATCCATC	TGTCAAGTCCAGCCAGTCAG CCTGAGCTTCATCACCAACA
^a Lowercase letters represent Xh	ol and HindIII sites.		

Table 2.1 Primer sequences for RNAi constructs and qRT-PCR.

[Co-author and reprint with permission from American Society of Microbiology: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (47),

copyright (2012) American Society of Microbiology]

2.1.2.3 Western blotting

All steps were carried out at room temperature unless otherwise noted. Approximately 1- 1.5×10^7 cells were pelleted by centrifugation at $800 \times g$ for 10 min and lysed in 30-50 µl of lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.1, 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 10 mM EDTA and SIGMAFAST protease inhibitor tablets. Lysates were sonicated for 10 s using a Virtis Virsonic 300 ultrasonic cell disruptor and cooled on ice for 10 s. Cell debris was cleared by centrifugation at $13,200 \times g$, 15 min, 4°C. Protein concentrations of soluble fractions were measured using a bicinchoninic acid assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Lysates were boiled for 10 min following addition of 5 \times SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis sample buffer (300 mM Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 10% SDS, 5% βmercaptoethanol, 50% glycerol and 0.05% bromophenol blue). Ten μ g of protein from each lysate was resolved on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gels and transferred to AmershamTM HybondTM-ECL nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare, Pittsburgh, PA). Membranes were blocked with 5% (w/v) non-fat milk in TBST (20 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.6, 0.1% Tween 20) for 30 min and washed 3×10 min with TBST prior to incubation with primary antiserum. Rat polyclonal antiserum against recombinant TbTryS (provided by Dr. Alan Fairlamb, University of Dundee, UK) was diluted 1:500 in TBST containing 5% bovine serum albumin (w/v). Rabbit polyclonal antiserum against parasite α -enolase (provided by Dr. Paul Michels, Catholic University of Louvain, Brussels, Belgium) was diluted 1:1000 in TBST containing 5% (w/v) non-fat milk. The membranes were washed 3×10 min in TBST and incubated with goat anti-rat or antirabbit immunoglobulin G-horseradish peroxidase (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.) conjugates (1:5000) for 1 h. Following 3×10 min washes with TBST, the proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence with AmershamTM ECLTM western blotting detection reagent (GE Healthcare, UK).

2.1.3 In vitro susceptibility assay

All incubations were carried out at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere, unless otherwise noted. The activity of compounds towards TbTryS-RNAi and TbSODB-RNAi cell lines were tested in the presence or absence of 1 µg/ml tetracycline following the procedure of Reid *et al.* (99) with some modifications. Parasite cultures at a starting density of 1×10^5 cells/ml were seeded in 96-well plates in a volume of 100 µl/well with or without test compounds for 72 h. Twenty-five µl of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT, 5 mg/ml in autoclaved water) was added to each well, followed by an additional 2 h incubation. One hundred µl of 10% SDS lysis buffer (prepared in 50% dimethyl formamide) was added to each well and plates were incubated for 3-6 hrs. A SpectraMax Plus microplate reader (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) was used to measure the optical densities of each well at 570 nm. IC₅₀ values were determined with the aid of the software program SoftMax Pro (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) using the dose-response equation $y = [(a - d)/(1 + (x/c)^b)] + d$, where x =

the drug concentration, y = absorbance at 570 nm, a = upper asymptote, b = slope, c = IC₅₀, and d = lower asymptote.

2.1.4 Electron spin resonance (ESR)

The production of free radicals was detected by ESR after incubation of compounds with BSF *T. b. brucei* strain 221 parasites. Cells in late log stage were centrifuged at $800 \times g$ for 10 min and resuspended in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) in the presence of 10 mM glucose, 10 mM spin trapping reagent 5-(diethoxyphosphoryl)-5-methyl-1-pyrroline N-oxide (DEPMPO) and 10 μ M chelating reagent diethylenetriamine-pentaacetic acid (DETPAC). Stock solutions of the compounds in DMSO were added, after which the suspension was transferred into a 50 μ l capillary tube and incubated for 60 min. ESR spectra were recorded on a Bruker EMX X-band spectrometer system (Bruker Biospin, Billerica, MA) and characterized by computer simulations using Winsim software (Public EPR Software Tools, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, Durham, NC).

2.2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.2.1 Effect of RNAi-mediated knockdown of TbTryS

To assess the role of TbTryS in *T. brucei* sensitivity to OSU-40, bloodstream form 90-13 cells were transfected with plasmid pZJM α -TbTRYS. This allows induction of TbTryS

RNAi in the presence of tetracycline and consequent reduction in TbTryS expression. In the absence of tetracycline, TbTryS-RNAi cells grew at approximately the same rate as the parental 90-13 cells (data not shown). Following the addition of tetracycline for 72 h, a significant reduction in the growth rate of TbTryS-RNAi cells was observed with a corresponding 4-fold reduction of endogenous TbTryS mRNA (Fig 2.1A). The doubling time increased from 8.6 h to 11.1 h as measured over the first 5 days post induction with a cumulative cell density for induced parasites being 11% of the non-induced cultures on day 5. Western blot analysis confirmed that the level of TbTryS protein was significantly reduced in TbTryS-RNAi-induced cells compared to non-induced and wild-type cultures (Fig 2.1B). Results above were consistent with reported effects of TbTryS RNAi on parasite growth and the level of TbTryS protein in *T. brucei* parasites (4, 20).

TbTryS is an essential enzyme in the parasite defense against oxidative stress (4, 20). If the trypanocidal effect of OSU-40 is mediated through extensive oxidative stress, we hypothesized that down-regulation of TbTryS should then sensitize the parasites to OSU-40. Consistent with our hypothesis, RNAi-induced BSF trypanosomes were 2.4-fold (P < 0.05) more susceptible to OSU-40 as determined by MTT assays of parasite viability (Fig 2C). H₂O₂, nifurtimox and suramin were employed as controls. Both H₂O₂ and nifurtimox were reported to show increased activity on trypanosomes with TbTryS knockdown by RNAi (4, 20). Suramin, which served as a negative control for the changes in potency of OSU-40 following TbTryS-knockdown, acts through a mechanism not directly related to oxidative stress (8). The potencies of H₂O₂ and nifurtimox both increased on RNAi-induced parasites by 2.2-fold (P < 0.01) and 1.6-fold (P < 0.05) respectively, while the activity of suramin was unchanged.



Figure 2.2 Effect of TbTryS RNAi on bloodstream form parasite growth, TbTryS protein level and susceptibility to OSU-40.

A, growth of RNAi-induced (+tet) and non-induced (-tet) TbTryS-RNAi cell lines. 'Td' indicates the doubling time over 5 days; Results are means \pm SE from three independent experiments. Inset of A, real-time PCR shows 4-fold lower TryS mRNA levels in RNAiinduced (+tet) compared to noninduced (-tet) cells collected three days after induction. B, Western blot analysis of TbTryS expression in wild-type (WT) 90-13, non-induced (-tet) and RNAi-induced (+tet) trypanosomes collected 5 days after induction. %TbTryS indicates protein abundance relative to non-induced cells quantified using ImageJ software (public domain, National Institutes of Health) after normalizing to α -enolase bands. The blot is representative of three independent experiments. C, Susceptibility of RNAi-induced (+tet) and noninduced (-tet) TbTryS-RNAi cell lines to OSU-40, H₂O₂, nifurtimox and suramin. RNAi was initiated and maintained for at least three days prior to initiation of the susceptibility assay (see Materials and Methods). The results shown are the means of at least four independent experiments \pm SE (n = the number of independent experiments). Asterisks (*P < 0.05 and **P < 0.01) indicate statistically significant differences in IC₅₀ values between RNAi-induced and non-induced cells as assessed by Student's *t* test.

[Co-author and reprint with permission from American Society of Microbiology: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (47), copyright (2012) American Society of Microbiology]

2.2.2 Effect of RNAi-mediated knockdown of TbSODB

To further confirm that down-regulation of essential trypanosome antioxidant enzymes leads to an increased sensitivity to OSU-40, a TbSODB-RNAi cell line was also generated. Consistent with previously reported findings (136), RNAi-mediated down-regulation of TbSODB led to a dramatic decrease in parasite growth rate (Fig 2.2A), with the doubling time lengthened from 5.7 h to 9.3 h over the first 5 days after induction and the cumulative cell density of induced parasites being as low as 0.3% of the non-induced cultures on day 5.

The antiparasitic potency of OSU-40 was evaluated in TbSODB-RNAi-induced and noninduced parasites, together with H_2O_2 , nifurtimox and suramin. Similar to our observation with TbTryS-RNAi-induced trypanosomes, parasites with down-regulated TbSODB became 3.4-fold (P < 0.01) more susceptible to OSU-40. H_2O_2 and nifurtimox were also more active on RNAi-induced parasites (2.6-fold (P < 0.05) and 4.1-fold (P < 0.005), respectively). At the same time, down-regulation of TbSODB did not lead to a significant rise in susceptibility to suramin. This again confirmed that the increased activity of OSU-40 was not a general effect due to the knockdown of TbSODB.



Figure 2.3 Effect of TbSODB RNAi on parasite growth and susceptibility to OSU-40.

A, growth of RNAi-induced (+tet) and non-induced (-tet) TbSODB-RNAi cell lines. 'Td' indicates the doubling time over 5 days. The results are means \pm SE from two independent experiments. **B**, Susceptibility of RNAi-induced (+tet) and noninduced (-tet) TbSODB-RNAi cell lines to OSU-40, H₂O₂, nifurtimox and suramin. RNAi was initiated and maintained for at least 2 days prior to susceptibility assays. The results shown are the means of at least three independent experiments \pm SE (n = the number of independent experiments). Asterisks (**P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01 and ****P* < 0.005) indicate statistically significant differences in IC₅₀ values between RNAi-induced and non-induced cells as assessed by Student's *t* test.

[Co-author and reprint with permission from American Society of Microbiology: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (47), copyright (2012) American Society of Microbiology]

We observed a more dramatic increase in susceptibility to OSU-40 in TbSODB-RNAi parasites (3.4-fold) compared to the results with TbTryS-RNAi parasites (2.4-fold). Reduced expression of TbSODB would be expected to lead to rapid accumulation of superoxide anion within the trypanosome, considering that TbSODs are the only enzymes responsible for detoxifying this highly toxic radical in the parasite. However, RNAimediated knockdown of TbTryS was previously reported to increase expression of trypanothione reductase (TbTryR), γ – glutamylcysteine synthetase (Tb γ – GCS), and ornithine decarboxylase (TbODC) (4). It is possible that the upregulation of these enzymes could serve to maintain a favorable intracellular redox potential and lead to less dramatic effects on both growth rate and OSU-40 susceptibility in TbTryS-RNAi-induced parasites. In addition to work with TbTryS and TbSODB, we generated parasites harboring a TbSODA RNAi targeting construct. While 6-fold lower mRNA levels were observed three days after the addition of tetracycline, neither the growth rate nor the susceptibility to OSU-40 was affected in TbSODA-RNAi organisms (data not shown). A possible explanation for these observations may be that TbSODB could compensate for the loss of TbSODA in the TbSODA-RNAi induced parasites.

2.2.3 ESR study

Parasites were treated with OSU-40 for 1 h and the cell suspension was analyzed using ESR spectroscopy. The spin trapping reagent DEPMPO was added to the cell suspension to permit the measurement of short-lived free radicals. Clearly resolved 12 line spectra

were observed after treatment of trypanosomes with both OSU-40 and H_2O_2 (Fig 2.3 A). Computer simulation was carried out to characterize the ESR spectra obtained after exposure of parasites to 10 μ M OSU-40 for 60 min. The simulation identified the presence of two isomers of DEPMPO adduct with the following coupling constants (G): isomer 1: ³¹P, 47.049; ¹H, 20.033; ¹⁴N 14.494 and isomer 2: ³¹P, 46.402; ¹H, 22.398; ¹⁴N 14.445. The calculated spectral parameters were in agreement with that of carboncentered adduct (127). Similar results were obtained for all the DEPMPO adducts following exposure of the parasites to OSU-40 and H_2O_2 . Induction of free radicals by OSU-40 in BSF *T. brucei* was dose-dependent based on quantification of ESR signal amplitudes (Fig 2.3 B).



Figure 2.4 ESR spectra and signal quantification in trypanosomes exposed to OSU-40.

A, ESR spectra observed after incubation of bloodstream form *T. b. b.* 221 cells with a) DMSO, 1%; b) OSU-40, 1 μ M; c) OSU-40, 10 μ M and d) H₂O₂, 250 μ M; B, quantification of ESR signals. Results are means \pm SD from three independent experiments. Asterisks (****P* < 0.005) indicate statistically significant differences between the DMSO-treated group and the treatment groups as assessed by Student's *t* test.

[Co-author and reprint with permission from American Society of Microbiology: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (47), copyright (2012) American Society of Microbiology]

We have also shown direct evidence through ESR spectroscopy that the dihydroquinoline OSU-40 induces free radical formation. ESR (also known as electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR)) detects paramagnetic species in an external magnetic field, where the paramagnetic species absorb microwave energy leading to the transition of spin states (67, 128). Spin trapping allows the detection of radicals by ESR through the formation of radical adducts between the spin trapping reagent and free radicals. The technology has been used in chemical systems and increasingly in biomedical applications, including the measurement of free radical formation in Trypanosomatids and other biological systems (16, 86, 94, 128). In this study, inclusion of 1 μ M OSU-40 in trypanosome cultures resulted in a clear ESR signal in as little as 30 min (data not shown). Also, a dose-dependent production of signals corresponding to free radical species was observed after

treating the parasites with OSU-40 for 60 min. These data are consistent with our previous experiments showing increased fluorescence when trypanosomes were incubated with the redox active dye CM-H₂DCFDA in the presence of OSU-40 (39). The spectra recorded after treatment of trypanosomes with OSU-40 and H₂O₂ showed identical ESR features which suggest the radicals to be carbon-centered in both cases and possibly produced by the same mechanism. However, we do not know if this represents initial or end products and whether the initial products are different in the two cases.

2.3 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In this chapter we present data that suggest the activity of antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines is through induction of oxidative stress. We rationalize that the potency and selectivity of this series of compounds is based on the limited ROS-scavenging capacity of the parasite's redox system and/or peculiarities in the redox status of trypanosomes compared to host cells (58, 65, 66, 75, 106, 124).

We hypothesized that parasites with reduced expression of ROS detoxifying enzymes would offer the opportunity to test our idea that antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines act through inducing oxidative stress. For these experiments we used an inducible RNAi system to independently knockdown the ROS detoxifying enzymes TbTryS and TbSODB, thus creating parasites with a compromised ROS-detoxification system. We selected these enzymes on the basis of their proven essentiality using both chemical and genetic approaches (4, 20, 97, 121, 136, 138). TbTryS has been validated as a drug target using small molecule inhibitors (121) and TbSODB-null parasites show increased sensitivity to the superoxide generating molecules paraquat and nifurtimox (97). In our experiments, an increased susceptibility to OSU-40 was observed upon knockdown of either TbTryS or TbSODB, consistent with the hypothesis that antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines induce oxidative stress in the parasite.

A pharmacokinetic study of OSU-40 and OSU-36·HCl in rats showed that OSU-40 was rapidly converted to OSU-36 in plasma, with OSU-36 subsequently undergoing oxidative metabolism (42). Together with the results obtained here, we propose the following addition to the proposed mode of action of antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines (39) (Figure 2.4): Compounds esterified at the 6-oxygen atom are hydrolyzed by esterases and then oxidized to the corresponding quinone imine species spontaneously. Redox cycling between the quinone imine and semiquinone radical results in the generation of superoxide. Trypanothione reductase has been reported to catalyze the reduction of quinones (15, 48, 102) and could facilitate the initiation of single electron redox cycling. Hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical formed as a consequence of superoxide production (52, 122, 124) together with superoxide would lead to *T. brucei* parasite cell death.



Figure 2.5 Proposed mode of action for the generation of oxidative stress by the antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines including the possible protective role of TbTryS and TbSODB.

In this model, dihydroquinolines such as OSU-40 are hydrolyzed by an esterase activity followed by auto-oxidation. The resulting quinone imine can then undergo redox cycling, leading to oxidative stress. The results of this investigation suggest that the parasite's antioxidant enzymes trypanothione synthetase and superoxide dismutase B are utilized to lessen the toxic effects of this class of antitrypanosomal agents.

[Co-author and reprint with permission from American Society of Microbiology: Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (47), copyright (2012) American Society of Microbiology]

A central issue regarding reagents inducing oxidative stress is selectivity. Although increased levels of ROS are certainly toxic to a pathogen such as T. brucei, excessive amounts of these reactive species can be toxic to the host due to their high reactivity with biological molecules such as DNA, protein and lipids. However, selectivity can be achieved through different manipulation of vulnerability to oxidative stress. For example, targeting the ROS stress response has been proposed as a strategy to selectively kill cancer cells (98, 122, 126). The small molecule piperlongumine was recently reported to lead to apoptotic cell death in cancer cells by increasing the level of ROS (98). An altered redox status appears to make cancer cells more vulnerable to oxidative stress, providing the basis for selectivity of this novel chemotherapeutic strategy (98, 122, 126). In the case of trypanosomatids, ROS generation has been widely studied as a mechanism for drugs targeting T. cruzi. In fact, the two agents used clinically for treating American trypanosomiasis, nifurtimox and benznidazole, are both suggested to induce free radical formation (31-33, 75). The selectivity of ROS generating reagents for trypanosomatids over host cells might be explained by the unique biochemical features of these parasites, particularly their peculiar ROS-scavenging system based on trypanothione-dependent peroxidases (58, 65, 66, 75, 106, 124). Trypanosomatids also lack glutathione reductase, thioredoxin reductase, catalase and selenium-containing glutathione peroxidases, possibly making them deficient in defense against oxidative stress. Fairlamb et al. proposed that the essential parasite enzymes trypanothione synthetase (121, 138) and trypanothione reductase (90, 92) are promising drug targets and reported different classes of small molecule inhibitors (90, 92, 121) interfering with the ROS-scavenging system. Taken together, these studies support the idea that the induction of oxidative stress can be an effective strategy for developing antitrypanosomal agents.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that decreased expression of the key trypanosome antioxidant enzymes TbTryS and TbSODB results in an increased susceptibility of bloodstream form *T. brucei* to the representative dihydroquinoline OSU-40. We have also used ESR spectroscopy to directly detect the formation of free radicals upon exposure of *T. brucei* to OSU-40. These data strongly support that the mode of antitrypanosomal action for this class of compounds is to induce oxidative stress. Validation of the induction of oxidative stress as the mode of action for dihydroquinolines may open the door for new therapeutic strategies targeting African trypanosomiasis.
CHAPTER 3: AQUEOUS SOLUBILITY, CYTOTOXICITY AND

IN VITRO RESISTANCE OF ANTITRYPANOSOMAL DIHYDROQUINOLINES

The ultimate goal of our work with antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines is to develop a new drug against HAT. As discussed in chapter 1, the drugs currently used in HAT chemotherapy have serious limitations, including complex administration, severe toxicity, poor efficacy, acquired resistance, rising failure rates, and lack of availability (8, 11, 139). Accordingly, drug discovery efforts for HAT treatment need to focus on new reagents with the following characteristics: safety, affordability, ease of administration, activity against first and second stage disease, and effectiveness against both subspecies of *T. brucei* (11, 139). A series of studies were carried out with representative dihydroquinolines to evaluate their drug-like properties to aid the development of these compounds as prospective new HAT treatments.

3.1 AIMS OF STUDY

3.1.1 Aqueous solubility of dihydroquinolines

Complicated administration is a major disadvantage of all the current treatments for HAT, even for the newly registered NECT. Oral activity will simplify the administration, which is much desired for HAT treatment in rural endemic areas. Multiple factors can affect oral absorption and bioavailability, such as drug stability, solubility, metabolism and membrane permeability. Generally, high aqueous solubility and moderate lipophilicity can provide a better chance for good absorption and bioavailability (22, 69).

An evaluation of aqueous solubility can be carried out using either a thermodynamic assay or a kinetic assay. To obtain a thermodynamic solubility values, the solid compound of interest must be allowed to equilibrate with the liquid medium before quantification using the traditional thermodynamic assay (1). Measurements can be carried out by the shake-flask method, where the compound in a defined medium at a given pH and temperature will be shaken for a set period of time. The presence of insoluble compound will confirm the saturation of the supernatant. After filtration, analysis of the filtrate can be carried out with UV spectroscopy and chromatographic methods etc. (23). Although the traditional shake-flask method is believed to give the most accurate solubility value, it is not preferred in the early stage of drug discovery since it is time-consuming and requires relatively large quantities of the compound of interest. Recently, using a miniaturized shake-flask approach, a high throughput

equilibrium solubility assay has been reported as a fast, reliable, inexpensive screening method that is suitable for early-stage drug discovery (140).

Kinetic solubility assays, on the other hand, have been more widely utilized in early-stage lead optimization and candidate selection (19, 28, 38). The kinetic solubility value is determined on а non-equilibrium state and can be measured with turbidimetric/nephelometric methods or by UV absorption (23, 89). These assays are relatively fast, inexpensive and require small amounts of compounds when compared to the traditional shake-flask method. Also, DMSO solutions of compounds, the typical stock solution for in vitro and in vivo tests in early-stage drug discovery, are used in these measurements. This gives the kinetic methods another advantage, as they require less effort for sample preparation. Automated high throughput solubility assays have been reported for the measurement of kinetic aqueous solubility (19, 28, 38).

OSU-36•HCl and OSU-95•HCl are hydrochloride salts of dihydroquinolin-6-ols, while OSU-40 and OSU-75 are the methyl esters of their free bases, respectively (please see Table 1.1 for the structures of these compounds). In lead optimization of dihydroquinolines, one motivation for preparing these salts was to increase aqueous solubility. Thus, the aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl was measured with a kinetic solubility assay, similar to those described in the literature (69, 89).

3.1.2 In vitro cytotoxicity to human liver cells

Reducing host toxicity is another goal for drug discovery for HAT. As concluded in chapter 2, the mode of antitrypanosomal action of dihydroquinolines is to induce oxidative stress through the formation of a quinone imine species. These species are also reported as metabolites of several drugs through cytochrome P450-catalyzed oxidation, including acetaminophen (123), diclofenac (120), thiabendazole (24) and lumiracoxib (62). The formation of quinone imine species is believed to cause hepatotoxicity. These electrophilic quinone imine species may covalently bind to proteins and potentially interfere with mitochondrial and nuclear function leading to reactive oxidative species and ultimately apoptosis in liver cells (49, 60, 78, 79, 95, 96, 123). Glutathione conjugated quinone amine intermediates were observed; the intermediates are believed to be products of the detoxification process of the quinone imine species (24, 62, 79, 120). However, glutathione conjugation also causes the depletion of cellular glutathione pools and consequentially impaired antioxidant function, leading to cell injury or death (24, 62, 79, 96, 120). As an example, cytochrome P450-catalyzed oxidation of acetaminophen to N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine (NAPQI) and the following glutathione conjugation are shown in Figure 3.1 (59). Overall, the hepatotoxicity of the drugs mentioned above was suggested to depend on P450-catalyzed activation. As further support for this hypothesis, the toxic effects of acetaminophen within the liver were observed in the centrilobular zone, where the greatest concentration of a certain cytochrome P450 isoforms has been reported (46, 49, 123).



Figure 3.1 The role of metabolism of acetaminophen in its hepatotoxicity.

Acetaminophen is oxidized by cytochrome P450 to NAPQI and NAPQI may covalently bind to macromolecules, leading to toxicity. NAPQI-glutathione conjugation contributes to detoxification of acetaminophen. [Reprint (adapted) with permission from American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics: Drug Metabolism and Disposition(59), copyright (2003)]

When preparing dihydroquinolines, we noticed that the analogues with a free 6'-OH substituent on the dihydroquinoline ring system turned to a dark, sticky gum within a few hours due to auto-oxidation (39). Hence, we hypothesized that the formation of a quinone imine species from antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines was through auto-oxidation rather than oxidation catalyzed by a cytochrome P450 enzyme. Given that the hepatotoxicity of the drugs mentioned above was suggested to depend on P450-catalyzed activation, auto-oxidation of antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines may not lead to toxicity that specifically targets liver cells. However, we cannot rule out the possibility of P450-catalyzed oxidation of dihydroquinolines to generate quinone imine species. To address the concern that dihydroquinolines may mediate host hepatotoxicity, the cytotoxicity of OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl were measured against a panel of liver cell lines.

3.1.3 Mechanism of resistance of dihydroquinolines

Studies on the selection of nifurtimox-resistant *T. brucei* parasites have been reported to shed light on the activation mechanism of this drug (137) and possibility of cross-resistance to other drugs (116).

In our study, the selection of OSU-40-resistant *T. brucei* clones was achieved by exposing parasites in culture to long-term OSU-40 pressure. The susceptibility of parasites becoming increasingly resistant to OSU-40 was evaluated during the selection period (39), and *T. brucei* lines displaying resistance to dihydroquinolines were eventually developed. The analysis of OSU-40-resistant *T. brucei* clones may provide clues regarding the parasite target or targets for the trypanocidal activity of dihydroquinolines. In addition, the possibility of cross-resistance to current antitrypanosomal drugs can also be determined with OSU-40-resistant *T. brucei* clones.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

All reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Co. unless stated otherwise. OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl were synthesized following the procedures described by Fotie et al. (39) and Reid et al. (99).

3.2.1 Kinetic solubility assay

Compounds were dissolved and serially diluted in DMSO. Two μ l of DMSO solution were added and mixed well in 100 μ l of phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH = 7.4) in 96-well clear bottom white plates followed by the addition of another 100 μ l of phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH = 7.4) with extensive mixing. The final concentration of DMSO is 1% (v/v)

in each well. The turbidity of each well was evaluated immediately by measuring the absorbance at 650 nM using a SpectraMax Plus microplate reader (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ). Further advice regarding the implementation of this assay was provided by Dr. Robert Jacobs and his group at Scynexis Inc., Durham, NC.

3.2.2 Mammalian cell culture

HepG2, Hep3B, Huh7 and PLC5 cells (a gift from Dr. Chih-Shih Chen, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH) were maintained in 75 cm² culture flasks with Dulbecco's modification of Eagle's medium (DMEM, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) containing 10% fetal bovine serum, 100 units/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin in 5% CO₂ at 37°C. The cells were trypsinized and passed every 2 – 4 days.

3.2.3 Liver cell cytotoxicity assay

All incubations were carried out at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere. 5×10^3 cells were seeded and incubated overnight in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum in 96-well plates. Compounds in serial dilutions were added and incubated for 72 h in a volume of 100 µl/well. Twenty µl/well of 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT, 2.5 mg/ml in autoclaved water) were added, and the plates were incubated for 1 h. Liquid was removed from each well and

100 μ l/well of DMSO were added. A SpectraMax Plus microplate reader (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) was used to measure the optical densities of each well at 570 nm. IC₅₀ values were determined with the aid of the software program SoftMax Pro.

3.2.4 Trypanosome culture

Bloodstream form *T. brucei brucei* strain 221 parasites were cultured at 37 °C under 5% CO₂ in HMI-9 medium (50) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum. Cell density was maintained between 2.5×10^4 - 5×10^6 cells/ml.

3.2.5 Generation of OSU-40-resistant T. brucei cell line

T. brucei brucei 221 parasites were cultured in the continuous presence of OSU-40. The concentration of OSU-40 in the culture was increased in a step-wise fashion, starting at 0.02 μ M until the organisms were routinely cultured in 0.45 μ M OSU-40. After approximately 22 months of exposure in OSU-40, clonal parasites were generated by limiting dilution.

3.2.6 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant Trypanosomes

To confirm resistance, the in vitro antitrypanosomal activity assay was performed after allowing the cells to grow in OSU-40-free conditions for 3 - 12 days. The assay was carried out following the same procedure described in section 2.1.3.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1 Aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl

The kinetic solubility assay used in this study is modified from an assay developed by Dr. Robert Jacobs and his group at Scynexis Inc. The assay and corresponding calculation were validated by comparing the results to the results from the shake-flask method carried out at Scynexis Inc. An absorbance 1.5 times greater than that of the blank was taken to indicate that the compound of interest precipitated from solution, leading to a linear increase of absorbance at 650 nm. The aqueous solubility of control compounds, including estrone, progesterone and chlorpromazine•HCl, were determined to validate the assay. The results from these assays confirmed good assay stability and the same order of solubility compared to the results obtained at Scynexis Inc.

The aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl was determined as shown in Figure 3.1. The hydrochoride salt forms of dihydroquinolin-6-ols (OSU-36•HCl and OSU-95•HCl) showed better aqueous solubility compared to the methyl esters of their free bases (OSU-40 and OSU-75), respectively. When compared with results reported in a similar kinetic solubility assay in 1% DMSO aqueous media with slightly different assay conditions (pH = 6.5, incubation time = 10 min), the solubility of the four dihydroquinolines (35 μ M -73 μ M) is similar to that of several marketed drugs, such as simvastatin (31.8 μ M), loratadine (32.2 μ M), reserpine (59.8 μ M), tamoxifen (67.3 μ M) and efavirenz (76.6 μ M) (119), suggesting a reasonable aqueous solubility profile of these dihydroquinolines. Testing the drugs in our assay system is needed to confirm the comparable solubility.

Carried out in 96-well plates, the advantages of this assay are fast and stable performance and the possibility of adaptation to high-throughput format. Our assay described in this chapter provides the opportunity to rank large numbers of compounds according to their aqueous solubility. However, an equilibrium solubility measurement is needed to provide precise solubility values for later pharmaceutical development of lead compounds.



Figure 3.2 Aqueous solubility of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl.

50

OSU-95•HCl

Upper left, chemical structures of OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl. Upper right, aqueous solubility curves with absorbance at 650 nm (light scattering) plotted vs. concentration for OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, OSU-75 and OSU-95•HCl. The gray horizontal solid line represents the baseline determined by multiplying the mean absorbance of 1% aqueous DMSO solutions lacking compound by 1.5. The gray dashed line represents the linear regression from the data points above the base line in each case. The gray cross marks the point where the linear regression crosses the base line, giving aqueous solubility in 1% DMSO of each compound, shown in the table.

3.3.2 Cytotoxicity of OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl

As described in chapter 1, OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl showed promising selectivity (SI = 1710 and 850 respectively) when tested against L6 rat myoblasts. The results from the panel of liver cells (Table 3.1) agreed with the previous observation and confirmed that these representative dihydroquinolines exhibit good selectivity for African trypanosomes compared to mammalian cells, with SI values ranging from 400 to 2570. This observation also supported the argument that auto-oxidation of antitrypanosomal dihydroquinolines should not lead to cell line-specific hepatotoxicity. OSU-40 generally showed less toxicity than OSU-36•HCl to all the four cell lines. This is possibly due to the better aqueous solubility of OSU-36•HCl as observed earlier. On the other hand, similar to its mode of antitrypanosomal action, OSU-40 could be hydrolyzed in liver cells to form

OSU-36, leading to the same mode of toxicity as OSU-36•HCl. This explains the observation that toxicity caused by the two compounds in the four cell lines follows the same rank: Hep3B > PLC5 > Huh7 > HepG2. The requirement for ester hydrolysis may also reduce the cytotoxicity of OSU-40 compared to OSU-36•HCl.

	IC ₅₀ (μM)						
Compounds -	T. b. rhodesiense	HepG2	НерЗВ	Huh7	PLC5		
		I	Ĩ				
OSU-40	0.014	36 ± 13	8.0 ± 1.9	25 ± 6	18 ± 4		
OSU-36•HCl	0.013	20 ± 4	5.2 ± 2.0	16 ± 6	11 ± 3		

Table 3.1 Cytotoxicity of OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl against liver cell lines.

3.3.3 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant T. brucei

OSU-40-resistant *T. brucei* parasites were selected through culturing the wild type parasites in the presence of increasing concentrations of OSU-40. Starting at a sublethal concentration of 0.02 μ M OSU-40, the concentration of OSU-40 was increased once the parasites were adapted and showed a similar growth rate to the wild type organisms. The development of resistance was monitored by susceptibility assays (results shown in Table

3.2 and Figure 3.2). Resistance developed relatively slowly in vitro. After 14 months, OSU-40 resistant parasites showed 5.8-fold decreased susceptibility to OSU-40. Similar resistance was observed with OSU-36•HCl (4.7-fold), suggesting the decreased susceptibility was not caused by mutations in trypanosomal esterases that catalyze the conversion of OSU-40 to OSU-36. To determine whether the OSU-40-resistant cells were cross-resistant to nifurtimox and/or H_2O_2 , the sensitivity of these parasites to these two compounds was also evaluated. After 14 months of exposure, there was no significant difference between the susceptibility of the OSU-40 resistant cells and the parental cells to nifurtimox or to H_2O_2 .

The OSU-40 resistant parasites were maintained for a total of 22 months. Two clonal lines were developed by limiting dilution in the absence of OSU-40. Since the two clonal lines showed almost identical susceptibilities to OSU-40, OSU-36•HCl, nifurtimox, H_2O_2 and suramin, one of them was randomly selected for further study (results using the selected line are shown in Table 3.2 and Figure 3.2). As expected, clonal OSU-40 resistant cells were 21-fold less sensitive to OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl than the parental line. Surprisingly, these parasites were 5-fold more sensitive to nifurtimox and 2.5-fold more sensitive to H_2O_2 as well. The reason for this observation is unknown. Whole genome sequencing is proposed to determine the genomic changes that led to the resistance to dihydroquinolines and hypersensitivity to nifurmox and H_2O_2 .

Compound	Parental .	OSU-40 resistant (14 months)		OSU-40 resistant (22 months)	
	IC ₅₀ (μM)	IC ₅₀ (µM)	Fold difference	IC ₅₀ (µM)	Fold difference
OSU-40	0.060	0.35	5.8	1.3	21
OSU-36•HCl	0.048	0.22	4.7	1.0	21
Nifurtimox	9.1	11	1.2	1.8	0.20
H ₂ O ₂	330	560	1.7	140	0.43
Suramin	0.11	0.14	1.3	0.11	1.0

Table 3.2 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant *T. brucei* after 14 months and 22 months of OSU-40 pressure.



Figure 3.3 Susceptibility of OSU-40-resistant *T. b. brucei* 221 parasites to OSU-40, OSU- $36 \cdot HCl$, nifurtimox, H₂O₂, and suramin after 14 months and 22 months of OSU-40 pressure.

Parasites were cultured in the absence of OSU-40 pressure for 3 - 12 days prior to initiation of the susceptibility assay (see Materials and Methods). The results shown are the means of at least three independent experiments \pm SE except for OSU-36•HCl at 22

months (n=1). Asterisks ((*P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 and ***P < 0.005) indicate statistically significant differences in IC₅₀ values from the OSU-40-resistant line to the parental line as assessed by Student's *t* test.

3.4 SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The drug-like properties of representative dihydroquinolines were determined, aiming to discover a new drug against HAT from this series of compounds. The kinetic solubility assay confirmed that the salt forms (OSU-36•HCl and OSU-95•HCl) showed improved solubility compared to the esters (OSU-40 and OSU-75), respectively. Overall, the four dihydroquinolines showed a good aqueous solubility profile when compared with that of a series of drugs. To confirm the comparable solubility, the corresponding drugs need to be tested in our assay system.

The liver cell cytotoxicity assay showed that dihydroquinolines were highly selective for trypanosomes over human liver cells. The results were also consistent with the cytotoxicity of these compounds against L6 rat myoblasts, suggesting the compounds were not more toxic to liver cells than another mammalian cell type. Both the kinetic solubility assay and liver cytotoxicity assay are fast and cost-effective, permitting these assays to be performed as routine determinations for all the new analogues in this series.

Clonal OSU-40 resistant *T. brucei* parasites were developed through 22-month selection under increasing OSU-40 pressure. These clonal cells showed dramatically lowered

sensitivity to OSU-40 and OSU-36•HCl and, to our surprise, higher sensitivity to both nifurtimox and H_2O_2 . We propose to conduct whole genome sequencing to determine differences between the parental line and resistant line. Genome sequencing of drug-resistant organism has been applied to establish the mechanism of action of the drug of interest (51). The following studies will be conducted to determine the essentiality of the mutations in the resistance to OSU-40 and hypersensitivity to nifurtimox and H_2O_2 .

Certain mutations, such as deletions or point mutations, can lead to lower levels of certain genes in the OSU-40-resistant line. Quantitative real-time PCR and Western blotting will be performed to evaluate the corresponding mRNA and protein levels of the gene of interest to confirm the effects of the mutation. Inducible RNA interference will be performed on wild type *T. b. b.* 221 parasites targeting the gene of interest. The susceptibility of the RNAi lines to dihydroquinolines, nifurtimox and H_2O_2 will be determined using the approaches described in Chapter 2. The induced RNAi line exhibiting downregulation of the targeted gene should show the same phenotypic characteristics, such as resistance to dihydroquinolines and/or hypersensitivity to nifurtimox and H_2O_2 , if the mutation is responsibile for altered susceptibility in the OSU-40 resistant parasites.

On the other hand, if gene duplication is detected in the OSU-40-resistant line, quantitative real-time PCR and Western blotting will be conducted to confirm the increased level of corresponding mRNA and protein. Inducible RNA interference will be performed on OSU-40-resistant parasites targeting the gene of interest. The susceptibility

of the RNAi lines to dihydroquinolines, nifurtimox and H_2O_2 will be determined using the approaches described in Chapter 2 as well. The induced RNAi line displaying downregulation of the targeted gene should show reversed phenotype characteristics, such as increased sensitivity to dihydroquinolines and/or decreased sensitivity to nifurtimox and H_2O_2 , if the mutation is the essential reason for the corresponding effect in the OSU-40 resistant parasites.

These studies will shed light on the mechanism of resistance to dihydroquinolines and possibly provide more evidence concerning the mode of action of these compounds. This may also provide clues regarding the origin of the heightened sensitivity of the parasites to nifurtimox. Such information could be of great importance to new antitrypanosomal drug discovery efforts.

CHAPTER 4: CANINE LEISHMANIASIS

Leishmaniasis is a parasitic disease caused by more than 20 species of the protozoan *Leishmania*. The disease threatens up to 350 million people in 88 countries around the world (64, 134). According to WHO, 12 million individuals are estimated to be infected with about 1 - 2 million estimated new cases occurring every year (134). The protozoan is transmitted by the bite of phlebotomine sand flies. Depending on the species of *Leishmania* and the host's immune system, the disease can lead to a wide range of clinical symptoms. These symptoms are commonly characterized into three categories: cutaneous, mucocutaneous or visceral (13, 30, 64). Visceral leishmaniasis (VL) is the most severe form and leads to most of the 70,000 deaths each year caused by leishmaniasis (64).

Depending on the geographical distribution and causative *Leishmania* species, VL can be anthroponotic, i.e., transmitted only from human to vector to human. Zoonotic VL occurs when the parasites are transmitted from animal to vector to human; a representative life cycle is shown in Figure 4.1, A, B and C (2). *Leishmania infantum* (*L. i.*) is the most widespread species causing zoonotic VL with domestic dogs as the main reservoir. Cats (73), wild canids (115) and horses (37) are also reported as reservoirs where canine

leishmaniasis distributes. Canine leishmaniaisis caused by *Leishmania infantum* is one of the major zoonotic diseases that lead to death in dogs. As a common companion animal, the health of dogs is of great concern in pet owners in developed and developing countries.

4.1 DISTRIBUTION

Canine leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania infantum* exists in about 50 countries in Europe, Africa, Asia and the Americas (117) (shown in Figure 4.1). Although the majority of human VL cases occur in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, India, Nepal, Sudan and Brazil (18, 30), canine leishmaniasis has been mostly identified in the Mediterranean basin, the Middle East, Central Asia, and China (2, 72). Sporadic cases have been reported in canine travelers returning to the United States from endemic areas (93, 105). In 2000, Foxhounds were reported to be infected with *Leishmania infantum* by a kennel in New York State (41, 93). By 2005, seropositive Foxhounds had been reported in 60 kennels in 22 states and 2 Canadian provinces (93, 101).



Figure 4.1 Distribution of zoonotic visceral leishmaniasis caused by *Leishmania* infantum.

[Reprint from Gramiccia M (44) with permission from Elsevier]

4.2 PARASITE TRANSMISSION AND LIFE CYCLE

Different subspecies of *Leishmania* share similar life cycles, in which parasites exist in two forms – promastigotes and amastigotes (13). Promastigotes are elongated, with an anterior flagellum originating from a kinetoplast while amastigotes are round to oval shaped and only retain a rudimentary flagellum. The life cycle of *Leishmania infantum* is summarized below with the numbered steps shown in Figure 4.2 (76):

① *Leishmania infantum* promastigotes are injected by female phlebotomine sand flies while taking a blood meal on humans or dogs and then phagocytized by macrophages and/or other types of mononuclear phagocytic cells.

② - ⑦ Promastigotes transform into amastigotes within these host cells. Amastigotes actively replicate in phagocytes, leading to cell destruction, and progressively infect more phagocytes. Once the organisms have entered the systemic circulation, they can again be taken in during blood meals by sand flies.

③ - ⑩ Within sand flies, amastigotes transform into promastigotes in the gut and migrate to the proboscis. Metacyclic promastigote forms found in the proboscis are infective for mammalian hosts, permitting the life cycle of the parasite to continue.

Interestingly, although both life stages of the parasite are capable of replication via binary fission, promastigotes only multiply in the sand fly and will lose the ability to replicate once injected into the host bloodstream; amastigotes only replicate in phagocytic cells.



Figure 4.2 Life cycle of *Leishmania infantum*.

[Springer and the Parasitology Research, 90, 2003, S108-S111, Repellent efficacy of a combination containing imidacloprid and permethrin against sand flies (Phlebotomus papatasi) on dogs, Mencke, N., P. Volf, V. Volfova, and D. Stanneck, Figure 1, is given to the publication in which the material was originally published, by adding; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media (76)]

4.3 CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS

Canine leishmaniasis leads to variety of clinical features, and skin lesions on the head are the most frequently reported manifestation. The incubation period also differs from case to case, lasting from weeks to years (2, 76). The disease can be asymptomatic in its early stage and cutaneous symptoms can possibly be observed after months of infection (2). Cutaneous symptoms start as a single papule, which enlarges into a nodule or lesion with edges (93). Although the parasites normally accumulate in bone marrow, liver and spleen in human VL cases (64), they distribute extensively in the organs of infected dogs, including the skin, spleen, liver, lymph glands bone marrow and kidney etc. (2). A study involving 93 infected dogs by Semiao-Santos et al. (108) showed that lymphadenopathy, onychogryphosis and cutaneous lesions occurred in more than 50% of the cases. The presence of *Leishmania* parasites in different tissues and organs leads to ulcers and bald patches after months to years of infection and death can occur, usually due to renal or hepatic failure (2).

4.4 DIAGNOSIS

Direct methods	Indirect methods		
Cytologic evaluation: microscopic	• Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay:		
observation of Leishmania amastigotes	amplification of Leishmania specific		
extracellarly or in macrophages.	gene fragments for detection.		
• Histological evaluation: detection of	Serological methods:		
parasites in tissue sections from lesions.	Indirect fluorescence antibody (IFA)		
Organism culture	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay		
• Xenodiagnosis: examination of	(ELISA)		
phlebotomine vectors that fed on a dog	Western blotting		
with suscepted infection.	western blotting		
	Immunochromatographic tests		
	• Evaluation of cellular immune response		

Table 4.1 Diagnostic methods for canine leishmaniasis (2, 18, 88).

The diagnostic methods used in dogs (88) are similar to those employed in humans (18). Multiple factors, such as history, clinical findings, and results from basic biochemical laboratory tests should be taken into consideration prior to diagnosis. Diagnosis is made based on the observation of parasites through direct methods and/or indirect methods as shown in Table 4.1.

4.5 TREATMENT AND PREVENTION

Treatment of canine leishmaniasis is carried out with the same drugs used in humans. The most common antileishmanial drugs used in dogs (chemical structures shown in Figure 4.3) are listed in Table 4.2 in descending order of citations, together with the proposed modes of action and limitations (2, 18, 82). As an example of the application of these treatments, Meglumine antimonite (GLUCANTIME) will be further discussed in detail. This drug is used to treat leishmaniasis in both humans and dogs. It is reported with a good clinical efficacy and reduces clinical signs usually in 1 or more weeks. Improved biological values are also observed with histological and/or serological detection methods. However, the treatment of meglumine antimonite failed to fully eliminate Leishmania parasites in multiple studies (81, 82), as parasites were detected in tissues of dogs a few months after treatment. Clinical relapses can occur months to 1-2 years after treatment. The most common adverse effects are pain and swelling of the injection site, and fever, diarrhea, loss of appetite have also been reported (114). Meglumine antimonite

can be used in combination with allopurinol and this combination therapy is the most common treatment of canine leishmaniasis. A longer period of clinical remission can be achieved with combination therapy compared to monotherapy with each drug. However, the combination therapy is still not able to eliminate the parasites in infected dogs (29).



Figure 4.3 Chemical structures of the drugs used in canine leishmaniasis chemotherapy.

In terms of prevention, the likelihood of canine visceral leishmaniasis can be reduced by treating dogs dermally with synthetic pyrethroids, which are lethal for the sand fly if the vector lands on treated dogs for a sufficient time to absorb a lethal dose (72). If there is only brief contact between the flies and insecticide-treated skin, pyrethroids could also lead to irritation and disorientation in the vector, consequently reducing the blood-feeding rate.

As listed in Table 4.2, drugs currently on the market for the treatment of human leishmaniasis show highly toxic effects and/or parasite resistance. In addition, all known antileishmanial drugs used in dogs only lead to the temporary or permanent remission of clinical signs; none of them eliminate the infection (3) and clinical relapses commonly occur after treatment (2). Also, since all the treatments were discovered and developed through human clinical studies and then adapted to dogs, the pharmacokinetic profile of the drug may not be optimal for the treatment of canines. While preventive treatments with pyrethroids is effective in reducing the incidence of sand fly bites, non-sand fly transmission routes are suspected to be a problem. In the outbreak of canine leishmaniasis in a kennel in Duchess County (New York State, USA) in 2000 (41, 93), infected sand flies were not found. Transmission has also been reported through blood transfusion in dogs (2). Considering the factors outlined above, new agents specifically targeting canine leishmaniasis are needed.

Drug	Mode of action (**Not fully elucidated)	Limitations		
Meglumine antimonate	Affects energy metabolism, e.g. leishmanial glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation **	• Occurrence of resistance in certain regimens		
Allopurinol	Incorporates into RNA synthesis and inhibits protein synthesis.	 Moderate efficacy In combination therapy, usage does not improve the initial response to treatment, only delays the onset of relapse and reduces frequency. 		
Paromomycin	Acts on ribosomes and blocks protein synthesis **	• High incidence of adverse effects		
Amphotericin B	Interacts with ergosterol in the parasite membrane, leading to membrane structural disorganization.	 Severe adverse effects Complexity of formulation in preparation and administration Usage discouraged by WHO to avoid occurrence of resistant <i>Leishmania</i> strains 		
Miltefosine	Affects cell membrane synthesis	• Limitations not well documented		
Pentamidine	Affects mitochondria, e.g. mitochondrial membrane potential and kinetoplast DNA synthesis **	Severe adverse effects		

Table 4.2 Current drugs for the treatment of canine leishmaniasis

CHAPTER 5: DEVELOPMENT OF HIGH THROUGHPUT

ANTILEISHMANIAL SCREENING ASSAY

As discussed in detail in Chapter 4, drugs applied in therapy for canine leishmaniasis are not satisfactory due to the following reasons: 1) None of them can eliminate the infection permanently without relapse; 2) Adapted from therapy for human VL, preclinical characterizations are not relevant to dogs; and 3) There are concerns of selecting drugresistant *Leishmania* strains when using certain drugs in the treatment of dogs with leishmaniasis. Studies on new combination therapy (77) and canine vaccines (25, 80, 104) have been reported targeting canine leishmaniasis, but the discovery and development of novel drugs against this disease caused by *Leishmania infantum* has not been reported.

5.1 AIMS OF STUDY

The ultimate goal of this project is to discover novel candidates as preventive reagents against canine leishmaniasis. To achieve prophylactic activity, the candidates must show

a fast-killing effect on *Leishmania infantum* promastigotes. High throughput technology provides a potentially low-cost and rapid approach to facilitate antileishmanial lead discovery, particularly when the target is the promastigote form of the parasite due to its ease of culture. Although multiple antileishmanial high throughput screening efforts have been reported targeting human leishmaniasis using *L. donovani* and *L. major* as target species (27, 85, 113), high throughput screening against *Leishmania infantum* has not been reported. In this project, a high throughput assay is developed and validated on the promastigote form of *Leishmania infantum*. A similar screening assay has also been developed using *Leishmania donovani* promastigotes to address the question of whether screening against *Leishmania donovani* can provide accurate hits against canine leishmaniasis caused by *Leishmania infantum*.

5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

All chemicals were purchased from Aldrich Chemical Co. unless stated otherwise. A library of 427 compounds was available in house (Pfizer Animal Health, VMRD, Kalamazoo, MI).

5.2.1 Validation of antileishmanial screening assay

5.1.1.1 Parasite culture

L. infantum strain (gift from Dr. Hechmi Louzir, Laboratoire d'immunologie, Institut Pasteur de Tunis, Tunisia) was isolated from a dog lymph node aspirate, and then transformed from amastigote forms into promastigotes. *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* S1 (Sudanese strain) promastigotes were cultured in a shaking incubator at 25°C in RPMI-1664 medium containing L-glutamine, streptomycin and penicillin G supplemented with 20% and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (J R Scientific Inc., Woodland, CA) respectively.

5.1.1.2 Validation of the endpoint indicator

To access the efficiency and accuracy of the CellTiter-Glo luminescent cell viability assay kit (CellTiter-Glo, Promega, Madison, WI) as the endpoint indicator, the relationship between relative luminescence units (RLU) and *Leishmania* parasite number in each well was evaluated. Serial 2-fold dilution of parasites from an exponential phase culture $(1-5 \times 10^7 \text{ parasites/ml})$ was carried out in sterile 384-well white opaque microplates (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA), followed by the addition of CellTiter-Glo into each well. The presence of metabolically active cells was signaled by the quantitation of ATP present and recorded with a luminescence spectrometer (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA).

5.1.1.3 Validation of assay conditions

Reference compounds, including pentamidine, amphotericin B and miltefosine, were serially diluted in DMSO using Bravo Automated Liquid Handling Platform (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) and dispensed using Mosquito® Accurate Nanolitre to Microlitre Pipetting System (TPP LabTech Inc., Cambridge, MA) into assay microplates in a volume of 0.24 µl/well. Exponentially growing Leishmania parasites were diluted in culture medium and seeded to give 1×10^5 parasites/40 µl in each well using a multidrop combi reagent dispenser (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Plates were then incubated in a shaking incubator at 25 °C for 24 hrs before the addition of 20 µl of CellTiter-Glo® into each well. The antiproliferative effect was assessed by measuring the luminescence from the remaining metabolically active cells in each well and recorded with a luminescence spectrometer. IC₅₀ values were determined using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). Pentamidine was used as the positive control with a final concentration of 20 μ M, and 0.24 μ l DMSO (0.6% v/v) was used as negative control. Assay validation was performed in 2 independent experiments with 12 plates, including 4 plates with 0.6% DMSO in every well, 4 plates with positive and negative controls in wells with a checkerboard pattern, and 4 plates with serial dilutions of reference compounds. The plate settings are shown in Figure 1. Z' was determined for HTS assay validation with the following formula.

$$Z' = 1 - (3\sigma_p + 3\sigma_n) / (|\mu_p - \mu_n|)$$

 σ_p , μ_p , σ_n and μ_n are the standard deviation and mean values of positive (*p*) control and negative (*n*) controls, respectively.

5.2.2 Screening against Leishmania parasites

A library of 427 compounds was dissolved in DMSO and screened at 10 μ M in 0.6% DMSO using the conditions validated above against *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* promastigotes. The following formula was used to calculate the percentage inhibition of parasite growth for each compound:

% Inhibition = $100-(RLU_x-RLU_p)/(RLU_n-RLU_p) \times 100$

 RLU_x , RLU_p and RLU_n were the RLU when treated with the compound (*x*), positive control (*p*) and negative control (*n*), respectively. Compounds showing more than 40% inhibition were identified as hits and the available ones were further evaluated with dose response curves using the same procedure described for reference compounds. The Z' factor was evaluated for each plate in the screening.



Figure 5.1 Plate setting for assay validation and hit titration.

Each type of plates contains: Upper left, 0.6% DMSO in every well; Upper right, positive (20 μ M of pentamidine) and negative (0.6% DMSO) controls in wells with a checkerboard pattern; Lower left, wells A1-H1 and I24-P24 contain 0.6% DMSO, wells I1-P1 and A24-H24 contain 20 μ M pentamidine, other wells contain horizontal serial dilutions of reference compounds, pentamidine, amphotericin B and miltefosine, with different starting concentration in quality control plates or serial dilutions of hits starting at 120 μ M in hit titration plates.
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The ultimate goal of this screening effort is to discover preventive agents that will be administered before infection, persist in the bloodstream at a certain concentration and most importantly have the ability to kill the *Leishmania* parasites if they are injected by the vector. In this case, the organism we are targeting is the promastigote form of the parasite prior to phagocytosis and subsequent transformation into amastigotes.

5.3.1 Luminescence output correlates with parasite number per well

CellTiter-Glo determines the number of metabolically active parasites based on the quantitation of ATP. To assess the applicability of CellTiter-Glo as the endpoint indicator for *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* viability in high throughput assays, the relationship between RLU and *Leishmania* cell density in each well was evaluated. For both *L. infantum* and *L. donovani*, a strong linear relationship was observed between parasite number and RLU (Fig 5.2A). Resazurin (113, 125), MTT followed with lysis buffer (83), and MTS/PMS (40) have been reported as end point indicators in antileishmanial screening assays. Compared to these reagents, CellTiter-Glo provides the advantage of sufficient lysis and instant signaling without addition of lysis reagents or further incubation.

5.3.2 Dose-response curves of reference compounds

To validate the conditions for high throughput screening on the promastigote form of both *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* in a 384-well format, the dose-reponse curves and IC_{50} values of reference compounds were determined (Figure 5.2B). IC_{50} values of reference compounds were within the range of 4 × higher or lower than multiple reported values (40, 85, 113, 125), suggesting good reliability of the assay conditions. Interestingly, miltefosine showed significantly different activity on *L. donovani* and *L. infantum*, suggesting the possibility of identifying reagents with selectivity for one species of *Leishmania* compared to another.



Figure 5.2 Assay validation.

A) Luminescence output correlates with cell density for *L. infantum* and *L. donovani*. A linear relationship exists between luminescence measured with the CellTiter-Glo and the number of cells ($R^2 = 0.98$ and 0.96 for *L. i.* and *L. d.*, respectively). Serial 2-fold dilution of *Leishmania* parasites was made in 25 µl of medium in 384-well microplates. Luminescence was recorded 20 minutes after addition of 25 µl of CellTiter-Glo reagent in each well using a PerkinElmer luminescence spectrometer. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 replicates for each cell density. B) Dose response curves for pentamidine, amphotericin B and miltefosine. The black line represents results from *L. infantum* and

the gray dashed line represents results from *L. donovani*. IC_{50} values are the means of results from at least three independent experiments; representative curves are shown in the figure.

5.3.3 High throughput screening

A library of 427 compounds was screened at 10 μ M against both *L. infantum* and *L. donovani.* 0.6% of DMSO was included in the individual assay wells to allow a concentration of 10 μ M compound in the initial screening. To select hits producing rapid killing of the parasites, a duration of 24 hrs was selected for the screen. For the screen on *L. infantum* and *L. donovani*, the average Z' values calculated from positive and negative controls in each plate was 0.72 and 0.86, respectively (Figure 5.3). As Z' > 0.5 has been the widely accepted criterion for a good robustness in high throughput screening assays, the Z' values from both of screens on *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* suggested that the assay conditions developed gave a satisfactory robustness. From these plates, average values for the percent growth inhibition from three separated experiments were obtained. At least 40% inhibition was chosen as the cut-off criterion to select the most active compounds as hits.



Figure 5.3 Distribution plot of RLU values from assays on *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* promastigotes.

Blue dots, 427 compounds at 10 μM ; Red dots, 0.6% DMSO; Green dots, pentamidine at 20 $\mu M.$

In the *L. infantum* screening effort, Twenty-one compounds (4.9%) showed growth inhibition above or equal to 40% and were selected for further investigation. From *L. donovani* plates, 27 compounds (6.3%) showed growth inhibition above or equal to 40%, among which 16 were also active on *L. infantum* (Figure 5.4). A total number of 24 hits were available for further determination of IC₅₀ values on the two parasite species.



Figure 5.4 Number of hits on *L. infantum* and/or *L. donovani*.

From this initial screening with 40% inhibition as the cut-off criterion, the hits for *L*. *infantum* and *L. donovani* did not overlap completely. Assuming that *L. donovani* was utilized as a representative species to screen for activity against *L. infantum* with the same conditions developed in this study, inhibition of *L. donovani* will give 16 hits that should be selected against *L. infantum*; 5 of the hits on *L. infantum* (24%) would not be selected. On the other hand, from *L. donovani* screening, 11 hits among the total number of 27 showed inhibition < 40% against *L. infantum*, giving a false positive rate of $11/27 \times$

100% = 40%. Overall, under these conditions, *L. donovani* is not an ideal alternative species to screen for compounds that are active on *L. infantum*.

5.3.4 Antileishmanial activity of hits

IC₅₀ values of the 24 hits were determined for both *L. infantum* and *L. donovani*, and the results are listed in Table 5.1. Eighteen of these molecules (75%) displayed IC₅₀ values < 25 μ M against *L. infantum*, *L. donovani*, or both parasites, suggesting good selectivity in the initial screening.

Comparing the IC₅₀ values of all 24 hits against *L. infantum* to the results against *L. donovani*, eighteen of the compounds showed IC₅₀ values within a 2-fold difference. Among the 6 exceptions, compounds 19, 20 and 21 showed over 2-fold higher activity on *L. donovani*; compounds 7 and 16 were not active against *L. infantum* at 120 μ M, but showed moderate activity on *L. donovani*. Overall, five of the 24 hits (21%) in this study showed more than 2-fold higher activity on *L. donovani*, consistent with our conclusion from initial screening that screening on *L. donovani* to identify hits against *L. infantum* can give a high false positive rate. On the other hand, compound 18 was 2.1-fold more active on *L. infantum*, suggesting the possibility to discover selective reagents on *L. infantum* over *L. donovani*.

Regarding the most active molecules, three compounds (2, 14 and 17) exhibited IC_{50} values lower than 5 μ M against both *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* and three of them (19,

20 and 21) displayed IC₅₀ values $< 5 \mu$ M against *L. donovani* only. The activity of these potent compounds was comparable to the results obtained with the standard compound pentamidine (Table 5.4), a drug used to treat canine leishmaniasis.

Compound	% Inhibition at 10 μM		IC ₅₀ (μM) ^a	
	L. infantum	L. donovani	L. infantum	L. donovani
1	47	95	6.9 ± 1.6	5.4 ± 0.1
2	94	99	3.6 ± 0.4	4.1 ± 0.3
3	63	47	6.4 ± 0.7	6.9 ± 1.1
4	46	43	37 ± 7	39 ± 9
5	69	75	24 ± 7	28 ± 6
6	66	73	7.8 ± 1.3	7.5 ± 1.1
7	22	46	> 120	17 ± 8
8	33	51	40 ± 18	31 ± 4

^aValues represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 replicates

Table 5.1 Antileishmanial activity of hits.

Compound	% Inhibition at 10 μM		$IC_{50} (\mu M)^{a}$	
	L. infantum	L. donovani	L. infantum	L. donovani
9	38	46	15 ± 5	8.1 ± 1.1
10	52	69	15 ± 2	8.1 ± 0.7
11	77	33	8.5 ± 1.5	10 ± 1
12	-21	46	> 120	> 120
13	81	49	37 ± 4	39 ± 9
14	74	72	1.3 ± 0.3	1.5 ± 0.4
15	79	87	33 ± 3	17 ± 0
16	-2	42	> 120	43 ± 11
17	77	11	3.2 ± 0.5	4.2 ± 0.6
18	59	7	8.9 ± 2.3	19 ± 2
19	39	66	7.6 ± 3.9	2.3 ± 1.1

^aValues represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 replicates

Table 5.1 Antileishmanial activity of hits. (Continued)

Compound	% Inhibition at 10 µM		IC ₅₀ (μM) ^a	
	L. infantum	L. donovani	L. infantum	L. donovani
20	40	70	13 ± 8	3.9 ± 2.0
21	39	94	8.7 ± 1.3	4.1 ± 0.2
22	25	56	23 ± 3	25 ± 11
23	41	38	31 ± 3	38 ± 4
24	31	40	8.4 ± 1.5	7.9 ± 0.3
Pentamidine			4.5 ± 0.3	2.3 ± 0.1

^aValues represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 replicates

Table 5.1 Antileishmanial activity of hits. (Continued)

5.4 SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

High throughput screening assays on *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* were designed, developed and validated in a rapid and simple 384-well format with a satisfactory robustness (Z' = 0.71 and 0.86, respectively). The major advantage of these assays are 1) All the liquid handling steps are automated, and 2) The assays are in 384-well format and has the potential to be adapted into 1536-well format considering the culture conditions of the leishmania parasites. Although for assay validation described in this chapter, the screening was only carried out with a small library of 427 compounds, the high throughput screening assays developed have great potential to be utilized in screening of large numbers of compounds against *L. infantum* and *L. donovani*. Screening against *L. infantum* and *L. donovani* in parallel provides the opportunity to find new canine antileishmanial prophylactics.

From the screening of a 427-member library, six compounds (2, 14, 17, 19, 20 and 21) exhibited IC₅₀ values that are comparable to pentamidine (lower than 5 μ M) against *L. infantum* and/or *L. donovani*. Comparison of the *L. infantum* screen to the *L. donovani* screen indicates that screening against *L. donovani* is not an ideal approach to identify hits against *L. infantum* because of a high false positive rate.

Identification of structural clusters of the 24 hits is proposed to further analyze the structure-activity relationship. Hits exhibiting IC_{50} values lower than 5 µM against *L. infantum* and/or *L. donovani* will be evaluated in an intracellular amastigote assay. This may provide information on their selectivity on the promastigote form over amastigote form.

To discover prophylactic agents for canine leishmaniasis, this initial screening assay should be followed with secondary cytotoxicity screening on mammalian liver cells and evaluation of physical and chemical properties. The antileishmanial screening assay against *L. infantum* developed in this study is a good initiation point leading to new drug candidates to the discovery pipeline for canine leishmaniasis.

References

1. Alsenz, J., and M. Kansy. 2007. High throughput solubility measurement in drug discovery and development. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews **59**:546-567.

2. Alvar, J., C. Canavate, R. Molina, J. Moreno, and J. Nieto. 2004. Canine leishmaniasis. Advances in Parasitology 57:1-88.

3. Amusategui, I., A. Sainz, and M. A. Tesouro. 1998. Evolution of serum albumin/globulin ratio after antimonial therapy in canine leishmaniasis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 849:447-449.

Ariyanayagam, M. R., S. L. Oza, M. L. S. Guther, and A. H. Fairlamb. 2005.
 Phenotypic analysis of trypanothione synthetase knockdown in the African trypanosome.
 Biochemical Journal 391:425-432.

5. Bacchi, C. J., H. C. Nathan, and S. H. Hutner. 1980. Polyamine metabolism: a potential therapeutic target in trypanosomes. Science 210:332-334.

6. Bacchi, C. J., and N. Yarlett. 1993. Effects of antagonists of polyamine metabolism on African trypanosomes. Acta Tropica 54:225-236.

7. **Barrett, M. P.** 2010. Potential new drugs for human African trypanosomiasis: some progress at last. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases **23**:603-608.

8. **Barrett, M. P., D. W. Boykin, R. Brun, and R. R. Tidwell.** 2007. Human African trypanosomiasis: pharmacological re-engagement with a neglected disease. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology **152**:1155-1171.

9. Besteiro, S., M. P. Barrett, L. Riviere, and F. Bringaud. 2005. Energy generation in insect stages of Trypanosoma brucei: metabolism in flux. Trends in Parasitology 21:185-191.

10. **Burkard, G., C. M. Fragoso, and I. Roditi.** 2007. Highly efficient stable transformation of bloodstream forms of *Trypanosoma brucei*. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology **153**:220-223.

11. **Burri, C.** 2010. Chemotherapy against human African trypanosomiasis: Is there a road to success? Parasitology **137:**1987-1994.

12. **Carter, N. S., and A. H. Fairlamb.** 1993. Arsenical-resistant trypanosomes lack an unusual adenosine transporter. Nature **361:**173-176.

13. **CDC.** 2 November 2010. Parasite - Leishmaniasis. Centers of Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, USA http://www.cdc.gov/parasites/leishmaniasis/.

14. **CDC.** 2 November 2010. Parasites - African Trypanosomiasis (also known as Sleeping Sickness). Centers of Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, USA http://www.cdc.gov/parasites/sleepingsickness/biology.html.

 Cenas, N., D. Arscott, C. Williams Jr., and J. Blanchard. 1994. Mechanism of reduction of quinones by *Trypanosoma congolense* trypanothione reductase. Biochemistry 33:2509-2515.

16. Cerecetto, H., R. Di Maio, M. Gonzalez, M. Risso, P. Saenz, G. Seoane, A. Denicola, G. Peluffo, C. Quijano, and C. Olea-Azar. 1999. 1,2,5-oxadiazole N-oxide derivatives and related compounds as potential antitrypanosomal drugs: Structure-activity relationships. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry **42**:1941-1950.

17. Chappuis, F., L. Loutan, P. Simarro, V. Lejon, and P. Buscher. 2005. Options for field diagnosis of human African trypanosomiasis. Clinical Microbiology Reviews.
18:133-46.

 Chappuis, F., S. Sundar, A. Hailu, H. Ghalib, S. Rijal, R. W. Peeling, J.
 Alvar, and M. Boelaert. 2007. Visceral leishmaniasis: What are the needs for diagnosis, treatment and control? Nature Reviews Microbiology 5:873-882.

 Chen, T. M., H. Shen, and C. Y. Zhu. 2002. Evaluation of a method for high throughput solubility determination using a multi-wavelength UV plate reader. Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening 5:575-581. Comini, M. A., S. A. Guerrero, S. Haile, U. Menge, H. Lunsdorf, and L.
 Flohe. 2004. Validation of *Trypanosoma brucei* trypanothione synthetase as drug target.
 Free Radical Biology and Medicine 36:1289-1302.

 Conte, J. E. 1991. Pharmacokinetics of intravenous pentamidine in patients with normal renal function or receiving hemodialysis. Journal of Infectious Diseases 163:169-175.

22. **Curatolo, W.** 1998. Physical chemical properties of oral drug candidates in the discovery and exploratory development settings. Pharmaceutical Science & Technology Today **1**:387-393.

23. **Dai, W.-G., C. Pollock-Dove, L. C. Dong, and S. Li.** 2008. Advanced screening assays to rapidly identify solubility-enhancing formulations: High-throughput, miniaturization and automation. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews **60**:657-672.

24. **Dalvie, D., E. Smith, A. Deese, and S. Bowlin.** 2006. In vitro metabolic activation of thiabendazole via 5-hydroxythiabendazole: Identification of a glutathione conjugate of 5-hydroxythiabendazole. Drug Metabolism and Disposition **34**:709-717.

25. **Dantas-Torres, F.** 2006. Leishmune((R)) vaccine: The newest tool for prevention and control of canine visceral leishmaniosis and its potential as a transmission-blocking vaccine. Veterinary Parasitology **141:**1-8.

26. **de Koning, H. P.** 2001. Uptake of pentamidine in *Trypanosoma brucei brucei* is mediated by three distinct transporters: Implications for cross-resistance with arsenicals. Molecular Pharmacology **59:**586-592.

27. De Muylder, G., K. K. H. Ang, S. Chen, M. R. Arkin, J. C. Engel, and J. H. McKerrow. 2011. A screen against Leishmania intracellular amastigotes: comparison to a promastigote screen and identification of a host cell-specific hit. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases **5**:e1253.

28. Dehring, K. A., H. L. Workman, K. D. Miller, A. Mandagere, and S. K. Poole. 2004. Automated robotic liquid handling/laser-based nephelometry system for high throughput measurement of kinetic aqueous solubility. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis **36**:447-456.

29. **Denerolle, P., and G. Bourdoiseau.** 1999. Combination allopurinol and antimony treatment versus antimony alone and allopurinol alone in the treatment of canine leishmaniasis (96 cases). Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine **13**:413-415.

30. Desjeux, P., M. Boelaert, S. Sundar, S. Croft, K. Stuart, M. Tibayrenc, P. D. McMahon, M. Maroli, S. Reed, A. Dessein, J. Blackwell, J. Alvar, C. Davies, N. Saravia, B. Menne, A. M. El Hassan, and T. D. R. R. G. leishmaniasis. 2004. Leishmaniasis. Nature Reviews Microbiology 2:692-693.

31. **Docampo, R., and S. N. J. Moreno.** 1984. Free radical metabolites in the mode of action of chemotherapeutic agents and phagocytic cells on *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Reviews of Infectious Diseases **6:**223-238.

32. Docampo, R., S. N. J. Moreno, A. O. M. Stoppani, W. Leon, F. S. Cruz, F. Villalta, and R. F. A. Muniz. 1981. Mechanism of nifurtimox toxicity in different forms of *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Biochemical Pharmacology **30**:1947-1951.

33. **Docampo, R., and A. O. M. Stoppani.** 1979. Generation of superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide induced by nifurtimox in *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics **197:**317-321.

34. **Fairlamb, A. H., and I. B. R. Bowman.** 1980. Uptake of the trypanocidal drug suramin by bloodstream forms of Trypanosoma brucei and its effect on respiration and growth rate in vivo. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology **1:**315-333.

35. **Fairlamb, A. H., G. B. Henderson, C. J. Bacchi, and A. Cerami.** 1987. In vivo effects of difluoromethylornithine on trypanothione and polyamine levels in blood-stream forms of Trypanosoma brucei. Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology **24**:185-191.

36. **Fairlamb, A. H., G. B. Henderson, and A. Cerami.** 1989. Trypanothione is the primary target for arsenical drugs against African trypanosomes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **86**:2607-2611.

37. Fernandez-Bellon, H., L. Solano-Gallego, M. Bardagi, J. Alberola, A. Ramis, and L. Ferrer. 2006. Immune response to Leishmania infantum in healthy horses in Spain. Veterinary Parasitology **135**:181-185.

38. Fligge, T. A., and A. Schuler. 2006. Integration of a rapid automated solubility classification into early validation of hits obtained by high throughput screening. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis **42**:449-454.

39. Fotie, J., M. Kaiser, D. A. Delfin, J. Manley, C. S. Reid, J. M. Paris, T. Wenzler, L. Maes, K. V. Mahasenan, C. L. Li, and K. A. Werbovetz. 2010. Antitrypanosomal activity of 1,2-dihydroquinolin-6-ols and their ester derivatives. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 53:966-982.

40. Ganguly, S., S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Sarkar, and M. Chatterjee. 2006. Development of a semi-automated colorimetric assay for screening anti-leishmanial agents. Journal of Microbiological Methods **66:**79-86.

41. Gaskin, A. A., P. Schantz, J. Jackson, A. Birkenheuer, L. Tomlinson, M. Gramiccia, M. Levy, F. Steurer, E. Kollmar, B. C. Hegarty, A. Ahn, and E. B. Breitschwerdt. 2002. Visceral leishmaniasis in a New York foxhound kennel. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine 16:34-44.

42. Gershkovich, P., K. M. Wasan, O. Sivak, S. Lysakowski, C. Reid, K. Premalatha, and K. A. Werbovetz. 2011. Simultaneous determination of a novel

antitrypanosomal compound (OSU-36) and its ester derivative (OSU-40) in plasma by HPLC: application to first pharmacokinetic study in rats. Journal of Pharmacey & Pharmaceutical Sciences 14:36-45.

43. Ghoda, L., M. A. Phillips, K. E. Bass, C. C. Wang, and P. Coffino. 1990. Trypanosome ornithine decarboxylase is stable because it lacks sequences found in the carboxyl terminus of the mouse enzyme which target the latter for intracellular degradation. Journal of Biological Chemistry **265**:11823-11826.

44. **Gramiccia, M.** 2011. Recent advances in leishmaniosis in pet animals: Epidemiology, diagnostics and anti-vectorial prophylaxis. Veterinary Parasitology **181:**23-30.

45. Hall, B. S., C. Bot, and S. R. Wilkinson. 2011. Nifurtimox activation by Trypanosomal type I nitroreductases generates cytotoxic nitrile metabolites. Journal of Biological Chemistry 286:13088-13095.

46. Hart, S. G. E., R. W. Cartun, D. S. Wyand, E. A. Khairallah, and S. D. Cohen. 1995. Immunohistochemical localization of acetaminophen in target tissues of the CD-1 mouse: correspondence of covalent binding with toxicity. Fundamental and Applied Toxicology **24**:260-274.

47. He, S., A. Dayton, P. Kuppusamy, K. A. Werbovetz, and M. E. Drew. 2012. Induction of oxidative stress in *Trypanosoma brucei* by the antitrypanosomal dihydroquinoline OSU-40. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **56:**2428-2434.

48. Henderson, G., P. Ulrich, A. Fairlamb, I. Rosenberg, M. Pereira, M. Sela, and A. Cerami. 1988. "Subversive" substrates for the enzyme trypanothione disulfide reductase: alternative approach to chemotherapy of Chagas disease. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **85**:5374-5378.

49. Hinson, J. A., A. B. Reid, S. S. McCullough, and L. P. James. 2004. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity: Role of metabolic activation, reactive oxygen/nitrogen species, and mitochondrial permeability transition. Drug Metabolism Reviews **36**:805-822.

50. **Hirumi, H., and K. Hirumi.** 1989. Continuous cultivation of *Trypanosoma brucei* blood stream forms in a medium containing a low concentration of serum protein without feeder cell layers. Journal of Parasitology **75**:985-989.

51. Huitric, E., P. Verhasselt, A. Koul, K. Andries, S. Hoffner, and D. I. Andersson. 2010. Rates and mechanisms of resistance development in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to a novel diarylquinoline ATP synthase inhibitor. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **54**:1022-1028.

52. Imlay, J. A. 2003. Pathways of oxidative damage. Annual Review of Microbiology 57:395-418.

53. Iten, M., E. Matovu, R. Brun, and R. Kaminsky. 1995. Innate lack of susceptibility of Ugandan *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense* to DL-alpha-difluoromethylornithine (DFMO). Tropical Medicine and Parasitology **46**:190-194.

54. Iten, M., H. Mett, A. Evans, J. C. K. Enyaru, R. Brun, and R. Kaminsky. 1997. Alterations in ornithine decarboxylase characteristics account for tolerance of Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense to D,L-alpha-difluoromethylornithine. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **41**:1922-1925.

55. Jacobs, R. T., B. Nare, and M. A. Phillips. 2011. State of the art in African trypanosome drug discovery. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 11:1255-1274.

56. Jacobs, R. T., B. Nare, S. A. Wring, M. D. Orr, D. Chen, J. M. Sligar, M. X. Jenks, R. A. Noe, T. S. Bowling, L. T. Mercer, C. Rewerts, E. Gaukel, J. Owens, R. Parham, R. Randolph, B. Beaudet, C. J. Bacchi, N. Yarlett, J. J. Plattner, Y. Freund, C. Ding, T. Akama, Y. K. Zhang, R. Brun, M. Kaiser, I. Scandale, and R. Don. 2011. SCYX-7158, an Orally-Active Benzoxaborole for the Treatment of Stage 2 Human African Trypanosomiasis. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases 5:e1151.

57. Jacobs, R. T., J. J. Plattner, B. Nare, S. A. Wring, D. Chen, Y. Freund, E. G. Gaukel, M. D. Orr, J. B. Perales, M. Jenks, R. A. Noe, J. M. Sligar, Y.-K. Zhang, C.

J. Bacchi, N. Yarlett, and R. Don. 2011. Benzoxaboroles: a new class of potential drugs for human African trypanosomiasis. Future Medicinal Chemistry **3**:1259-1278.

58. Jaeger, T., and L. Flohe. 2006. The thiol-based redox networks of pathogens: unexploited targets in the search for new drugs. Biofactors 27:109-120.

59. James, L. P., P. R. Mayeux, and J. A. Hinson. 2003. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity. Drug Metabolism and Disposition **31**:1499-1506.

Jollow, D. J., J. R. Mitchell, W. Z. Potter, D. C. Davis, J. R. Gillette, and B.
B. Brodie. 1973. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. II. Role of covalent binding in vivo. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 187:195-202.

61. **Kaminsky, R., M. Iten, H. Mett, A. Littlewood, and R. Brun.** 1996. Alterations in ornithine decarboxylase characteristics account for tolerance of *Trypanosoma brucei rhodesiense* to D,L-alpha-difluoromethylornithine (DFMO). Tropical Medicine & International Health **1**:A32-A33.

62. Kang, P., D. Dalvie, E. Smith, and M. Renner. 2009. Bioactivation of lumiracoxib by peroxidases and human liver microsomes: identification of multiple quinone imine intermediates and GSH adducts. Chemical Research in Toxicology **22**:106-117.

63. Kaur, M., E. Reed, O. Sartor, W. Dahut, and W. D. Figg. 2002. Suramin's development: What did we learn? Investigational New Drugs **20**:209-219.

64. **Kaye, P., and P. Scott.** 2011. Leishmaniasis: complexity at the host-pathogen interface. Nature Reviews Microbiology **9:**604-615.

65. **Krauth-Siegel, R. L., and M. A. Comini.** 2008. Redox control in trypanosomatids, parasitic protozoa with trypanothione-based thiol metabolism. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta **1780**:1236-1248.

66. **Krauth-Siegel, R. L., S. K. Meiering, and H. Schmidt.** 2003. The parasitespecific trypanothione metabolism of trypanosoma and leishmania. Biological Chemistry **384:**539-549.

67. **Kuppusamy, P.** 2004. EPR Spectroscopy in biology and medicine. Antioxiants & Redox Signaling **6**:583-585.

68. Lanteri, C. A., R. R. Tidwell, and S. R. Meshnick. 2008. The mitochondrion is a site of trypanocidal action of the aromatic diamidine DB75 in bloodstream forms of Trypanosoma brucei. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **52**:875-882.

69. Lipinski, C. A., F. Lombardo, B. W. Dominy, and P. J. Feeney. 1997. Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 23:3-25.

70. Livak, K. J., and T. D. Schmittgen. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) method. Methods 25:402-408.

71. **Malvy, D., and F. Chappuis.** 2011. Sleeping sickness. Clinical Microbiology and Infection **17**:986-995.

72. Maroli, M., L. Gradoni, G. Oliva, M. Castagnaro, A. Crotti, G. Lubas, S. Paltrinieri, X. Roura, E. Zini, and A. Zatelli. 2010. Guidelines for prevention of leishmaniasis in dogs. Javma-Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 236:1200-1206.

Martin-Sanchez, J., C. Acedo, M. Munoz-Perez, B. Pesson, O. Marchal, and
F. Morillas-Marquez. 2007. Infection by Leishmania infantum in cats: Epidemiological study in Spain. Veterinary Parasitology 145:267-273.

Matovu, E., M. L. Stewart, F. Geiser, R. Brun, P. Maser, L. J. M. Wallace, R.
J. Burchmore, J. C. K. Enyaru, M. P. Barrett, R. Kaminsky, T. Seebeck, and H. P.
de Koning. 2003. Mechanisms of arsenical and diamidine uptake and resistance in Trypanosoma brucei. Eukaryotic Cell 2:1003-1008.

75. Maya, J. D., B. K. Cassels, P. Iturriaga-Vasquez, J. Ferreira, M. Faundez, N. Galanti, A. Ferreira, and A. Morello. 2007. Mode of action of natural and synthetic drugs against *Trypanosoma cruzi* and their interaction with the mammalian host. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 146:601-620.

76. **Mencke, N., P. Volf, V. Volfova, and D. Stanneck.** 2003. Repellent efficacy of a combination containing imidacloprid and permethrin against sand flies (Phlebotomus papatasi) on dogs. Parasitology Research **90:**S108-S111.

77. **Miro, G., L. Cardoso, M. G. Pennisi, G. Oliva, and G. Baneth.** 2008. Canine leishmaniosis - new concepts and insights on an expanding zoonosis: part two. Trends in Parasitology **24**:371-377.

78. Mitchell, J. R., D. J. Jollow, W. Z. Potter, D. C. Davis, J. R. Gillette, and B.
B. Brodie. 1973. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. I. Role of drug metabolism.
Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 187:185-194.

79. Mitchell, J. R., D. J. Jollow, W. Z. Potter, J. R. Gillette, and B. B. Brodie.
1973. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. IV. Protective role of glutathione.
Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 187:211-217.

80. Nogueira, F. S., M. A. B. Moreira, G. P. Borja-Cabrera, F. N. Santos, I. Menz, L. E. Parra, Z. Xu, H. J. Chu, C. B. Palatnik-de-Sousa, and M. C. R. Luvizotto. 2005. Leishmune (R) vaccine blocks the transmission of canine visceral leishmaniasis - Absence of Leishmania parasites in blood, skin and lymph nodes of vaccinated exposed dogs. Vaccine 23:4805-4810.

81. Oliva, G., L. Gradoni, L. Cortese, S. Orsini, P. Ciaramella, A. Scalone, R. de Luna, and A. Persechino. 1998. Comparative efficacy of meglumine antimoniate and aminosidine sulphate, alone or in combination, in canine leishmaniasis. Annals of Tropical Medicine and Parasitology **92:**165-171.

82. Oliva, G., X. Roura, A. Crotti, M. Maroli, M. Castagnaro, L. Gradoni, G. Lubas, S. Paltrinieri, A. Zatelli, and E. Zini. 2010. Guidelines for treatment of leishmaniasis in dogs. Javma-Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 236:1192-1198.

83. Oliveira, J., L. Ralton, J. Tavares, A. Codeiro-da-Silva, C. S. Bestwick, A. McPherson, and P. K. T. Lina. 2007. The synthesis and the in vitro cytotoxicity studies of bisnaphthalimidopropyl polyamine derivatives against colon cancer cells and parasite Leishmania infantum. Bioorganic Medicinal Chemisty **15**:541-545.

84. **Opigo, J., and C. Woodrow.** 2009. NECT trial: more than a small victory over sleeping sickness. Lancet **374:**7-9.

85. **Osorio, Y., B. L. Travi, A. R. Renslo, A. G. Peniche, and P. C. Melby.** 2011. Identification of small molecule lead compounds for visceral leishmaniasis using a novel ex vivo splenic explant model system. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases **5:**e962.

86. Otero, L., M. Vieites, L. Boiani, A. Denicola, C. Rigol, L. Opazo, C. OleaAzar, J. D. Maya, A. Morello, R. L. Krauth-Siegel, O. E. Piro, E. Castellano, M.
Gonzalez, D. Gambino, and H. Cerecetto. 2006. Novel antitrypanosomal agents based

on palladium nitrofurylthiosemicarbazone complexes: DNA and redox metabolism as potential therapeutic targets. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry **49:**3322-3331.

87. Paine, M. F., M. Z. Wang, C. N. Generaux, D. W. Boykin, W. D. Wilson, H.
P. De Koning, C. A. Olson, G. Pohlig, C. Burri, R. Brun, G. A. Murilla, J. K. Thuita,
M. P. Barrett, and R. R. Tidwell. 2010. Diamidines for human African trypanosomiasis. Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs 11:876-883.

88. Paltrinieri, S., L. Solano-Gallego, A. Fondati, G. Lubas, L. Gradoni, M. Castagnaro, A. Crotti, M. Maroli, G. Oliva, X. Roura, A. Zatelli, and E. Zini. 2010. Guidelines for diagnosis and clinical classification of leishmaniasis in dogs. Javma-Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 236:1184-1191.

89. Pan, L., Q. Ho, K. Tsutsui, and L. Takahashi. 2001. Comparison of chromatographic and spectroscopic methods used to rank compounds for aqueous solubility. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences **90**:521-529.

90. Patterson, S., M. S. Alphey, D. C. Jones, E. J. Shanks, I. P. Street, J. A. Frearson, P. G. Wyatt, I. H. Gilbert, and A. H. Fairlamb. 2011. Dihydroquinazolines as a novel class of *Trypanosoma brucei* trypanothione reductase inhibitors: discovery, synthesis, and characterization of their binding mode by protein crystallography. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry **54**:6514-6530.

91. **Pepin, J., and F. Milord.** 1994. The treatment of human African trypanosomiasis. Advances in Parasitology, Vol 33 **33:**1-47.

92. Perez-Pineiro, R., A. Burgos, D. C. Jones, L. C. Andrew, H. Rodriguez, M. Suarez, A. H. Fairlamb, and D. S. Wishart. 2009. Development of a novel virtual screening cascade protocol to identify potential trypanothione reductase inhibitors. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry **52**:1670-1680.

93. **Petersen, C. A.** 2009. Leishmaniasis, an emerging disease found in companion animals in the United States. Topics in Companion Animal Medicine **24**:182-188.

94. Porcal, W., P. Hernandez, L. Boiani, M. Boiani, A. Ferreira, A. Chidichimo, J. J. Cazzulo, C. Olea-Azar, M. Gonzalez, and H. Cerecetto. 2008. New trypanocidal hybrid compounds from the association of hydrazone moieties and benzofuroxan heterocycle. Bioorganic Medicinal Chemistry 16:6995-7004.

95. Potter, W. Z., D. C. Davis, J. R. Mitchell, D. J. Jollow, J. R. Gillette, and B.
B. Brodie. 1973. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. III. Cytochrome P-450mediated covalent binding in vitro. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 187:203-210.

96. **Potter, W. Z., S. S. Thorgeirsson, D. J. Jollow, and J. R. Mitchell.** 1974. Acetaminophen-induced hepatic necrosis. V. Correlation of hepatic necrosis, covalent binding and glutathione depletion in hamsters. Pharmacology **12**:129-143.

97. Prathalingham, S. R., S. R. Wilkinson, D. Horn, and J. M. Kelly. 2007. Deletion of the *Trypanosoma brucei* superoxide dismutase gene sodb1 increases sensitivity to nifurtimox and benznidazole. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **51**:755-758.

98. Raj, L., T. Ide, A. U. Gurkar, M. Foley, M. Schenone, X. Li, N. J. Tolliday, T.
R. Golub, S. A. Carr, A. F. Shamji, A. M. Stern, A. Mandinova, S. L. Schreiber, and
S. W. Lee. 2011. Selective killing of cancer cells by a small molecule targeting the stress response to ROS. Nature 475:231-234.

99. Reid, C. S., D. A. Patrick, S. S. He, J. Fotie, K. Premalatha, R. R. Tidwell, M.
Z. Wang, Q. A. Liu, P. Gershkovich, K. M. Wasan, T. Wenzler, R. Brun, and K. A.
Werbovetz. 2011. Synthesis and antitrypanosomal evaluation of derivatives of N-benzyl1,2-dihydroquinolin-6-ols: effect of core substitutions and salt formation. Bioorganic
Medicinal Chemistry 19:513-523.

100. **Rodgers, J.** 2009. Human African trypanosomiasis, chemotherapy and CNS disease. Journal of Neuroimmunology. **211:**16-22.

101. **Rosypal, A. C., G. C. Troy, R. B. Duncan, A. M. Zajac, and D. S. Lindsay.** 2005. Utility of diagnostic tests used in diagnosis of infection in dogs experimentally inoculated with a North American isolate of Leishmania infantum infantum. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine **19:**802-809. 102. Salmon-Chemin, L., E. Buisine, V. Yardley, S. Kohler, M. Debreu, V. Landry, C. Sergheraert, S. Croft, L. Krauth-Siegel, and E. Davioud-Charvet. 2001.
2- and 3-substituted 1,4-naphthoquinone derivatives as subversive substrates of trypanothione reductase and lipoamide dehydrogenase from *Trypanosoma cruzi*: synthesis and correlation between redox cycling activities and in vitro cytotoxicity. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 44:548-565.

103. **Sanderson, L., M. Dogruel, J. Rodgers, H. P. De Koning, and S. A. Thomas.** 2009. Pentamidine movement across the murine blood-brain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: effect of trypanosome infection, combination therapy, P- glycoprotein, and multidrug resistance-associated protein. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics **329:**967-977.

104. Saraiva, E. M., A. D. Barbosa, F. N. Santos, G. P. Borja-Cabrera, D. Nico, L.
O. P. Souza, C. D. Mendes-Aguiara, E. P. de Souzaa, P. Fampa, L. E. Parra, I.
Menz, J. G. Dias, S. M. de Oliveira, and C. B. Palatnik-de-Sousa. 2006. The FML-vaccine (Leishmune (R)) against canine visceral leishmaniasis: A transmission blocking vaccine. Vaccine 24:2423-2431.

105. Schantz, P. M., F. J. Steurer, Z. H. Duprey, K. P. Kurpel, S. C. Barr, J. E. Jackson, E. B. Breitschwerdt, M. G. Levy, and J. C. Fox. 2005. Autochthonous visceral leishmaniasis in dogs in North America. Javma-Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 226:1316-1322.

106. Schmidt, A., and R. L. Krauth-Siegel. 2002. Enzymes of the trypanothione metabolism as targets for antitrypanosomal drug development. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 2:1239-1259.

107. Scott, A. G., A. Tait, and C. M. R. Turner. 1996. Characterisation of cloned lines of Trypanosoma brucei expressing stable resistance to MelCy and suramin. Acta Tropica 60:251-262.

Semiaosantos, S. J., A. Elharith, E. Ferreira, C. A. Pires, C. Sousa, and R.
Gusmao. 1995. Evora district as a new focus for canine leishmaniasis in Portugal.
Parasitology Research 81:235-239.

109. **Shapiro, T. A., and P. T. Englund.** 1990. Selective cleavage of kinetoplast DNA minicircles promoted by antitrypanosomal drugs. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **87**:950-954.

Simarro, P. P., G. Cecchi, M. Paone, J. R. Franco, A. Diarra, J. A. Ruiz, E.
M. Fevre, F. Courtin, R. C. Mattioli, and J. G. Jannin. 2010. The Atlas of human African trypanosomiasis: a contribution to global mapping of neglected tropical diseases. International Journal of Health Geographics 9:57.

111. Simarro, P. P., A. Diarra, J. A. R. Postigo, J. R. Franco, and J. G. Jannin.2011. The human African trypanosomiasis control and surveillance programme of the

World Health Organization 2000-2009: the way forward. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases 5.

112. **Simarro, P. P., J. Jannin, and P. Cattand.** 2008. Eliminating human African trypanosomiasis: Where do we stand and what comes next? Plos Medicine **5**:174-180.

113. Siqueira-Neto, J. L., O.-R. Song, H. Oh, J.-H. Sohn, G. Yang, J. Nam, J. Jang, J. Cechetto, C. B. Lee, S. Moon, A. Genovesio, E. Chatelain, T. Christophe, and L. H. Freitas-Junior. 2010. Antileishmanial high-throughput drug screening reveals drug candidates with new scaffolds. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases 4:e675.

114. **Slappendel, R. J., and E. Teske.** 1997. The effect of intravenous or subcutaneous administration of meglumine antimonate Glucantime(R) in dogs with leishmaniasis. A randomized clinical trial. Veterinary Quarterly **19**:10-13.

115. Sobrino, R., E. Ferroglio, A. Oleaga, A. Romano, J. Millan, A. Revilla, M. C. Arnal, A. Trisciuoglio, and C. Gortazar. 2008. Characterization of widespread canine leishmaniasis among wild carnivores from Spain. Veterinary Parasitology 155:198-203.

116. Sokolova, A. Y., S. Wyllie, S. Patterson, S. L. Oza, K. D. Read, and A. H. Fairlamb. 2010. Cross-resistance to nitro drugs and implications for treatment of human African trypanosomiasis. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 54:2893-2900.

117. Solano-Gallego, L., A. Koutinas, G. Miro, L. Cardoso, M. G. Pennisi, L. Ferrer, P. Bourdeau, G. Oliva, and G. Baneth. 2009. Directions for the diagnosis,

clinical staging, treatment and prevention of canine leishmaniosis. Veterinary Parasitology **165**:1-18.

118. Spinks, D., L. S. Torrie, S. Thompson, J. R. Harrison, J. A. Frearson, K. D. Read, A. H. Fairlamb, P. G. Wyatt, and I. H. Gilbert. 2012. Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of *Trypanosoma brucei* trypanothione synthetase inhibitors. Chemmedchem 7:95-106.

119. Sugano, K., T. Kato, K. Suzuki, K. Keiko, T. Sujaku, and T. Mano. 2006. High throughput solubility measurement with automated polarized light microscopy analysis. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences **95:**2115-2122.

120. Tang, W., R. A. Stearns, S. M. Bandiera, Y. Zhang, C. Raab, M. P. Braun, D. C. Dean, J. M. Pang, K. H. Leung, G. A. Doss, J. R. Strauss, G. Y. Kwei, T. H. Rushmore, S. H. L. Chiu, and T. A. Baillie. 1999. Studies on cytochrome P-450-mediated bioactivation of diclofenac in rats and in human hepatocytes: Identification of glutathione conjugated metabolites. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 27:365-372.

121. Torrie, L. S., S. Wyllie, D. Spinks, S. L. Oza, S. Thompson, J. R. Harrison, I.
H. Gilbert, P. G. Wyatt, A. H. Fairlamb, and J. A. Frearson. 2009. Chemical validation of trypanothione synthetase: a potential drug target for human trypanosomiasis. Journal of Biological Chemistry 284:36137-36145.

122. **Trachootham, D., J. Alexandre, and P. Huang.** 2009. Targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nature Reviews Drug Discovery **8**:579-591.

123. **Tujios, S., and R. J. Fontana.** 2011. Mechanisms of drug-induced liver injury: from bedside to bench. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology **8:**202-211.

124. **Turrens, J. F.** 2004. Oxidative stress and antioxidant defenses: a target for the treatment of diseases caused by parasitic protozoa. Molecular Aspects of Medicine **25:**211-220.

125. Vermeersch, M., R. I. da Luz, K. Tote, J.-P. Timmermans, P. Cos, and L. Maes. 2009. In vitro susceptibilities of Leishmania donovani promastigote and amastigote stages to antileishmanial reference drugs: practical relevance of stage-specific differences. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy **53**:3855-3859.

126. Verrax, J., R. Beck, N. Dejeans, C. Glorieux, B. Sid, R. C. Pedrosa, J. Benites, D. Vasquez, J. A. Valderrama, and P. Buc Calderon. 2011. Redox-active quinones and ascorbate: An innovative cancer therapy that exploits the vulnerability of cancer cells to oxidative stress. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry 11:213-221.

127. Villamena, F. A., C. M. Hadad, and J. L. Zweier. 2003. Kinetic study and theoretical analysis of hydroxyl radical trapping and spin adduct decay of alkoxycarbonyl

and dialkoxyphosphoryl nitrones in aqueous media. Journal of Physical Chemistry A **107:**4407-4414.

128. Villamena, F. A., and J. L. Zweier. 2004. Detection of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species by EPR spin trapping. Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 6:619-629.

129. Walton, J. G. A., D. C. Jones, P. Kiuru, A. J. Durie, N. J. Westwood, and A.
H. Fairlamb. 2011. Synthesis and Evaluation of Indatraline-Based Inhibitors for Trypanothione Reductase. Chemmedchem 6:321-328.

130. **Wang, Z. F., J. C. Morris, M. E. Drew, and P. T. Englund.** 2000. Inhibition of *Trypanosoma brucei* gene expression by RNA interference using an integratable vector with opposing T7 promoters. Journal of Biological Chemistry **275**:40174-40179.

131. Werbovetz, K. 2006. Diamidines as antitrypanosomal, antileishmanial, and antimalarial agents. Current Opinion in Investigational Drugs 7:147-157.

132. WHO. January 2012. Human African trypanosomiasis (sleeping sickness). World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs259/en/.

133. WHO. 2012. Human African trypanosomiasis, Control and Surveillance. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/trypanosomiasis_african/surveillance/en/.
134. WHO. 30 Jan 2009. Leishmaniasis: the global trend. World Health Organization,
Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/integrated_media_
leishmaniasis/en/index.html.

135. WHO. 23 May 2011. New cases of African trypanosomiasis continue to drop.
World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.who.int/neglected
_diseases/disease_management/HAT_cases_drop/en/index.html.

Wilkinson, S. R., S. R. Prathalingam, M. C. Taylor, A. Ahmed, D. Horn, and
 J. M. Kelly. 2006. Functional characterisation of the iron superoxide dismutase gene
 repertoire in *Trypanosoma brucei*. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 40:198-209.

137. Wilkinson, S. R., M. C. Taylor, D. Horn, J. M. Kelly, and I. Cheeseman.
2008. A mechanism for cross-resistance to nifurtimox and benznidazole in trypanosomes.
Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America
105:5022-5027.

138. Wyllie, S., S. L. Oza, S. Patterson, D. Spinks, S. Thompson, and A. H. Fairlamb. 2009. Dissecting the essentiality of the bifunctional trypanothione synthetaseamidase in *Trypanosoma brucei* using chemical and genetic methods. Molecular Microbiology **74**:529-540. 139. Yun, O., G. Priotto, J. Tong, L. Flevaud, and F. Chappuis. 2010. NECT is next: implementing the new drug combination therapy for *Trypanosoma brucei* gambiense sleeping sickness. Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases **4**:e720.

140. **Zhou, L., L. Yang, S. Tilton, and J. Wang.** 2007. Development of a high throughput equilibrium solubility assay using miniaturized shake-flask method in early drug discovery. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences **96:**3052-3071.